
AGENDA
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING
TUESDAY, JUNE 8, 2021 – 6:00 PM 

CITY HALL - 519 N GOOSE CREEK BOULEVARD

 

 
PURSUANT TO FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT SC CODE 30-4-80: WRITTEN NOTICE WAS
DELIVERED TO THE PRESS BY EMAIL ON FRIDAY, JUNE 4, 2021 AND DULY POSTED AT CITY HALL
LOCATED AT 519 N GOOSE CREEK BOULEVARD AND ON CITYOFGOOSECREEK.COM. CITY HALL
IS AN ACCESSIBLE FACILITY, FOR ASSISTANCE CALL 843-797-6220 X. 1113.
  
I. INVOCATION / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
  
II. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - PLEASE PROCEED TO THE PODIUM - 2 MINUTE TIME LIMIT

If you do not plan to attend the City Council Meeting due to COVID-19, you may submit your
comments to the City Clerk at cityclerk@cityofgoosecreek.com, via hand delivery or by US Mail
to Kelly Lovette, City Clerk, City of Goose Creek, P.O. Drawer 1768, Goose Creek, SC 29445.
Please send your comments to the City Clerk no later than 12:00 noon on the date of this
meeting; your remarks will be distributed to the Mayor and City Council but will not be read
aloud during the meeting.

  
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
   
 a. City Council Meeting - May 11, 2021

City Council Workshop - May 25, 2021
  
IV. PRESENTATIONS & PROCLAMATIONS
   
 a. Recognition of High School Student Athletes/Presentation of Mayor's Cup
  
V. OLD BUSINESS & PUBLIC HEARINGS
   
 a. AN ORDINANCE PURSUANT TO TITLE 5, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5-3-150, SUBSECTION 3, OF

THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED, TO ANNEX AN AREA
INDENTIFIED AS TMS 235-13-02-053, LOCATED AT 108 STEPHANIE DRIVE, INTO THE CITY
OF GOOSE CREEK, A SOUTH CAROLINA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION (Second and Final
Reading of a Public Hearing)

   
 b. AN ORDINANCE PURSUANT TO TITLE 5, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5-3-150, SUBSECTION 3, OF

THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED, TO ANNEX AN AREA
IDENTIFIED AS TMS 235-13-02-019, LOCATED ON LIZ LANE, INTO THE CITY OF GOOSE
CREEK, A SOUTH CAROLINA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION (Second and Final Reading of a
Public Hearing)

   
 c. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH

CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES IN THE ZONING DISTRICTS OF THE CITY OF

 

1



GOOSE CREEK BY CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED
ON THE CORNER OF SASS DRIVE AND OLD MONCKS CORNER ROAD, FURTHER
IDENTIFIED AS TMS# 234-08-00-084, FROM GENERAL COMMERCIAL (GC) TO LOW DENSITY
RESIDENTIAL (R-1) (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

   
 d. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,

SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO TITLE III, CHAPTER 34: FINANCE AND
TAXATION, BY REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY THE CURRENT SECTION "PURCHASING
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES" AND ADOPTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION
"PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES" MADE A PART HEREOF AND SET OUT HEREIN
(Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

  
VI. NEW BUSINESS & PUBLIC HEARINGS
   
 a. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE "CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,

SOUTH CAROLINA", BY AMENDING TITLE XV - LAND USAGE, SUBCHAPTER "ZONING
BOARD OF APPEALS SECTION 151.173(B)(1) - MEETINGS", AND SUBCHAPTER
"ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD SECTION 151.190(F)(6) - MEETINGS" BY REMOVING ANY
REFERENCES TO THE START TIME FOR THEIR RESPECTIVE MEETINGS - (Introduction and
First Reading of a Public Hearing)

   
 b. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH

CAROLINA, BY CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT
128 HOWE HALL ROAD (TMS # 252-01-03-007) FROM CONSERVATION/OPEN SPACE
DISTRICT (CO) TO GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (GC) - (Introduction and First Reading
of a Public Hearing)

   
 c. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,

SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE BY
REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY THE CURRENT CHAPTER 152. SMALL WIRRELESS FACILITIES
AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW CHAPTER 152. STANDARDS FOR PLACEMENT OF SMALL
WIRELESS FACILITIES - (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

   
 d. AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,

SOUTH CAROLINA, BY AMENDING THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 92, STREETS, SIDEWALKS, AND
OTHER PUBLIC PROPERTY; AND BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION (D), UNDERGROUND
DISTRICT - (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

   
 e. A RESOLUTION COMMITTING THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK TO PROVIDING A PROGRAM FEE

FOR THE MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION OF SOUTH CAROLINA RETAIL RECRUITMENT
TRAINING PROGRAM (Introduction and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)
 

  
VII. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT
   
 a. EMS Contract with Berkeley County.
   

2



 b. Request to Hire Contractor for Landscaped Medians.
   
 c. Code Enforcement Officer Update
   
 d. Request to Hire Trident Construction - Eubanks / Casey Park
  
VIII. MAYOR'S REPORT
  
IX. MONTHLY DEPARTMENT REPORTS
  
 May Department Reports
  
X. ADJOURN

3



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Mayor and City Council

From: Kelly J. Lovette, City Clerk

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
City Council Meeting - May 11, 2021
City Council Workshop - May 25, 2021

Background Summary

Financial Impact

Impact if denied

Impact if approved

 

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



Page 1 of 2 

 
MINUTES 

CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA 
CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP 

TUESDAY, MAY 25, 2021 – 6:00 PM 
FIRE STATION I – TRAINING ROOM 

201 BUTTON HALL AVENUE 
 

MAYOR/COUNCIL PRESENT: 
Mayor Gregory S.  Habib 
Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac 

 Counci lmember Hannah Cox 
 Counci lmember Melissa Enos 
 Counci lmember Debra Green-Fletcher 
 Counci lmember Corey McClary 
 Counci lmember Gayla McSwain 
 

CITY STAFF: 
City Administrator  Natalie  Zeigler  
Assistant  City  Administrator  Brian Cook 
City Clerk Kelly  J.  Lovette 
 
 
 
 

  
PRESS PRESENT:   
None 

 
GUESTS PRESENT:   
None 

                                                                                  
 
PURSUANT TO THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT SC CODE 30-4-80: WRITTEN NOTICE WAS DELIVERED TO 
THE PRESS BY EMAIL ON FRIDAY, MAY 21, 2021, AND DULY POSTED AT CITY HALL LOCATED AT 519 N GOOSE 
CREEK BOULEVARD, AN ACCESSIBLE FACILITY, AND ON CITYOFGOOSECREEK.COM 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
Mayor Habib called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 

 
II. DISCUSSION ITEM(S) 

 
a. Small Wireless Ordinance 

 
Mr. Cook, thoroughly briefed and discussed with City Council the proposed new model ordinance from 
the Municipal Association of South Carolina (MASC) that was being proposed. He stated the City currently 
has a Small Cell Ordinance that was already adopted by the City; the newly proposed Ordinance was one 
which contains some changes relating to the SC General Assembly by Act 179 of 2020, referred to as the 
SC Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act, established terms, conditions, procedures, rates, and fees 
upon which Small Wireless Facilities may be deployed in the right of way. Also provided for review and 
discussed with City Council was the design manual. All of City Council’s questions were thoroughly 
answered. 
 

b. Underground District Ordinance 
 
Mr. Cook thoroughly briefed and discussed with City Council the proposed Underground District 
Ordinance so as to formally designate an underground district as a text amendment to – Title IX, Chapter 
92 (Streets, Sidewalks, and other Public Property – Section 92.35). All of City Council’s questions were 
thoroughly answered.  
 

c. EMS Agreement with Berkeley County 
 
Mrs. Zeigler thoroughly briefed and discussed with City Council the proposed annual EMS contract with 
Berkeley County, as provided to City Council. Mrs. Zeigler stated she and Chief Nixon met with Berkeley 
County to see if the City could get more money, as well as a second ambulance, as they feel it is needed 
for the citizens of Goose Creek. She stated they did not get very far, that the dollar amount stayed the 

11



Page 2 of 2 

same. She stated what was changed was “Section 1.d.” of the proposed agreement in that the City shall 
use a fee schedule as established by the County, to determine all charges for services rendered and the 
County may raise the fee schedule during the term of the agreement and any such changes shall be 
effective as of the date they are deemed effective. The City shall follow exactly those charges as 
established. The same fee will apply to all emergency medical services provided within or by the City to 
defray direct costs of operating the ambulances. All of City Council’s questions were thoroughly 
answered.  

 
d. Discussion of Municipal Election Date 

 
Mrs. Zeigler stated the last item on the agenda was the municipal election date. She stated she included 
an article that was in the MASC’s April edition of the Uptown, wherein MASC and the South Carolina State 
Election Commission were recommending municipalities move their elections to odd years and she was 
suggesting City Council have a general discussion on the matter. Mayor Habib briefed City Council on 
some of the history when the City’s municipal elections were changed from April to November and sated 
that City Council, at that time, probably did not have enough foresight to make an educated decision on 
where to place the elections. City Council discussed the matter at length with Mrs. Zeigler and amongst 
one another as to whether or not they should move the municipal election to odd number years.  
 

III. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Motion: Mayor Pro Tem Tekac; Second: Councilmember McSwain 
Discussion: None. 
Carried: All ayes, 7:18 p.m. 

 
 
 

        Date: June 8, 2021 
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC 
City Clerk 

12



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator; Mayor and City Council

From: TJ Rostin, Director of Recreation

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
Recognition of High School Student Athletes/Presentation of Mayor's Cup

Background Summary
Recognizing student athletes from Goose Creek High School and Stratford High School for their
athletic accomplishments.

Financial Impact
None

Impact if denied

Impact if approved

 

13



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: City Administrator Natalie Zeigler; Mayor and City Council

From: Public Information Officer Frank Johnson

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE PURSUANT TO TITLE 5, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5-3-150, SUBSECTION 3, OF THE
CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED, TO ANNEX AN AREA INDENTIFIED AS
TMS 235-13-02-053, LOCATED AT 108 STEPHANIE DRIVE, INTO THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, A
SOUTH CAROLINA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
Annexation for Stephanie Drive PD

Financial Impact

Impact if denied

Impact if approved

 

14



AN ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE PURSUANT TO TITLE 5, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5-3-150, SUBSECTION 3, OF 
THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED, TO ANNEX AN 
AREA IDENTIFIED AS TMS 235-13-02-053, LOCATED AT 108 STEPHANIE DRIVE, INTO THE 
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, A SOUTH CAROLINA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

WHEREAS, Title 5, Chapter 3, Section 5-3-150(3) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 
amended, provides for the annexation of any area or property which is contiguous to a city or town by filing a 
petition with the municipal governing body which is signed by one-hundred percent (100%) or more of the 
owners owning at least one-hundred percent (100%) of the assessed valuation of the real property in the area 
requesting annexation; and 

WHEREAS, one-hundred percent (100%) of the freeholders owning one-hundred percent (100%) of 
the assessed valuation of the real property in the area hereafter delineated and described, have filed a petition 
with the City Council of Goose Creek, South Carolina, requesting that such property be annexed into the City 
of Goose Creek, South Carolina.  Such property is contiguous to the current City limits of the City of Goose 
Creek, and is described as follows: 

 TMS #235-13-02-053 (108 Stephanie Drive, Goose Creek) 

To include any road, waterway, easement, railroad track, marshland or utility line that intervenes between 
these properties and the municipal limits of the City of Goose Creek. 

The owner of said property has requested that the property be annexed into the City of Goose Creek.  All 
applicable City services will be provided immediately upon annexation.   

WHEREAS, the property is a parcel of land of .24 acre in Berkeley County, South Carolina, consisting 
of one residential lot, for the purpose of annexation into the City of Goose Creek.  The area is more fully shown 
on a plat entitled “Annexation Request Property Identified as TMS #235-13-02-053” as prepared by the City 
Planner. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City Council of the City 
of Goose Creek, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled, that all real properties as hereinafter delineated 
and described are hereby annexed into the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, a South Carolina municipal 
corporation, pursuant to Title 5, Chapter 3, Section 5-3-150(3) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, 
as amended, and a zoning district classification of PD (residential) will apply. 

INTRODUCED the 11th day of May, 2021. 

DONE the         day of                    , 2021. 

Mayor Gregory S. Habib 

Attest:___________________________________ 
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk 

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac         Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher 

Councilmember Corey McClary           Councilmember Melissa Enos 

Councilmember Gayla McSwain             Councilmember Hannah Cox 

15



16



17



18



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: City Administrator Natalie Zeigler; Mayor and City Council 

From: Public Information Officer Frank Johnson

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE PURSUANT TO TITLE 5, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5-3-150, SUBSECTION 3, OF THE
CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED, TO ANNEX AN AREA IDENTIFIED AS
TMS 235-13-02-019, LOCATED ON LIZ LANE, INTO THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, A SOUTH CAROLINA
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
Part of the annexation for Stephanie Drive, Zoned as Planned Development District

Financial Impact

Impact if denied

Impact if approved

 

19



AN ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE PURSUANT TO TITLE 5, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 5-3-150, SUBSECTION 3, OF 
THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, AS AMENDED, TO ANNEX AN 
AREA IDENTIFIED AS TMS 235-13-02-019, LOCATED ON LIZ LANE, INTO THE CITY OF 
GOOSE CREEK, A SOUTH CAROLINA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

WHEREAS, Title 5, Chapter 3, Section 5-3-150(3) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 
amended, provides for the annexation of any area or property which is contiguous to a city or town by filing a 
petition with the municipal governing body which is signed by one-hundred percent (100%) or more of the 
owners owning at least one-hundred percent (100%) of the assessed valuation of the real property in the area 
requesting annexation; and 

WHEREAS, one-hundred percent (100%) of the freeholders owning one-hundred percent (100%) of 
the assessed valuation of the real property in the area hereafter delineated and described, have filed a petition 
with the City Council of Goose Creek, South Carolina, requesting that such property be annexed into the City 
of Goose Creek, South Carolina.  Such property is contiguous to the current City limits of the City of Goose 
Creek, and is described as follows: 

 TMS #235-13-02-019 (Liz Lane, Goose Creek) 

To include any road, waterway, easement, railroad track, marshland or utility line that intervenes between 
these properties and the municipal limits of the City of Goose Creek. 

The owner of said property has requested that the property be annexed into the City of Goose Creek.  All 
applicable City services will be provided immediately upon annexation.   

WHEREAS, the property is a parcel of land of 3.00 acres in Berkeley County, South Carolina, 
consisting of one residential lot, for the purpose of annexation into the City of Goose Creek.  The area is more 
fully shown on a plat entitled “Annexation Request Property Identified as TMS #235-13-02-019” as prepared 
by the City Planner. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City Council of the City 
of Goose Creek, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled, that all real properties as hereinafter delineated 
and described are hereby annexed into the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, a South Carolina municipal 
corporation, pursuant to Title 5, Chapter 3, Section 5-3-150(3) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, 
as amended, and a zoning district classification of PD (residential) will apply. 

INTRODUCED the 11th day of May, 2021. 

DONE the         day of                    , 2021. 

Mayor Gregory S. Habib 

Attest:___________________________________ 
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk 

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac         Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher 

Councilmember Corey McClary           Councilmember Melissa Enos 

Councilmember Gayla McSwain             Councilmember Hannah Cox 

20



21



22



23



24



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: City Administrator Natalie Zeigler; Mayor and City Council

From: Mark Brodeur, Director of Planning and Zoning

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA,
TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES IN THE ZONING DISTRICTS OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK BY
CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED ON THE CORNER OF SASS
DRIVE AND OLD MONCKS CORNER ROAD, FURTHER IDENTIFIED AS TMS# 234-08-00-084, FROM
GENERAL COMMERCIAL (GC) TO LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-1) (Second and Final Reading of a
Public Hearing)

Background Summary
The Planning Commission of the City of Goose Creek held a public hearing on May 4, 2021, to
receive public comment and to consider A CHANGE IN ZONING CLASSIFICATION FROM General
Commercial (GC) to Low Density Residential (R-1) for a 1.13 acres parcel located on the corner of
Sass Drive and Old Moncks Corner Road, further identified as TMS# 234-08-00-084.

Financial Impact
n/a

Impact if denied
n/a

Impact if approved
n/a

 

25



ORDINANCE NO.   

AN ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES IN 
THE ZONING DISTRICTS OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK BY 
CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY 
LOCATED ON THE CORNER OF SASS DRIVE AND OLD MONCKS 
CORNER ROAD, FURTHER IDENTIFIED AS TMS# 234-08-00-084, FROM 
GENERAL COMMERCIAL (GC) TO LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL (R-1). 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Goose Creek held a 
public hearing on May 4, 2021, to receive public comment and to consider A 
CHANGE IN ZONING CLASSIFICATION FROM General Commercial (GC) to 
Low Density Residential (R-1) for a 1.13 acres parcel located on the corner of Sass 
Drive and Old Moncks Corner Road, further identified as TMS# 234-08-00-084. 

WHEREAS, pursuant to said public hearing, the Planning Commission has 
recommended that the zoning classification of the property aforesaid be changed to the 
Low Density Residential (R-1) Zoning District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and 
City Council of the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, that the Zoning Map of the 
City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, is hereby amended by changing the Zoning 
District classification of a 1.13 acres parcel located on the corner of Sass Drive and 
Old Moncks Corner Road, further identified as Tax Map number 234-08-00-084, and 
outlined on the attached staff report from  General Commercial (GC) to Low Density 
Residential (R-1). 

All ordinances and provisions in conflict herewith are repealed, and if any 
sentence, clause, phrase or word contained herein shall be held invalid, such invalidity 
shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this ordinance. 

This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption. 

INTRODUCED the _____ day of _____ 2021. 

DONE the      day of _____ 2021. 

Mayor Gregory S. Habib 

Attest:___________________________________ 
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk 

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher 

Councilmember Hannah Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos 

Councilmember Gayla McSwain Councilmember Corey McClary

Page 1 of 8 26



PLANNING & ZONING 

CITY HALL 
519 N. GOOSE CREEK BLVD. 

P.O DRAWER 1768

GOOSE CREEK, SC 29445-1768

TEL (843) 797-6220 EXT 1114 
FAX (843) 863-5208 

M E M O R A N D U M 

TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

SUBJECT: 

Mayor Gregory Habib, and City Council

Brenda Moneer, Planning and Zoning Technician 

May 4, 2021 

Rezoning Request – Old Moncks Corner Rd., 
TMS# 234-08-00-084 

Request for Rezoning: 
The applicant proposes to rezone the vacant property identified as TMS#234-08-00-084 
from General Commercial (GC) to Low Density Single Family (R1).  The applicant plans to 
build one (1) single family home on the property.  A single-family home is not a use by right 
within a General Commercial (GC) zoning Classification. 

Discussion Points: 
The subject property is approximately 1.13 acres in size and is currently a vacant 
commercial property. 

• Currently there are residential properties down Sass Drive (west) and a vacant
parcel to the south located within Berkeley County zoned (R1) Single Family
Residential District.

• Vacant properties to the north are within the City of Goose Creek Boundary zoned
General Commercial (GC).

• The City of Goose Creek Recreation Facility, Walker Trail/pond area, and City Hall
Municipal Complex sits on Properties to the east, across Old Moncks Corner Road.
These parcels are within the City of Goose Creek Boundary, zoned Conservation
Open Space (CO). 

Within close proximity to this parcel, a Church is located to the north at the corner of Old 
Moncks Corner Rd and Old Mt. Holly Rd within the City of Goose creek Boundary, zoned 
General Commercial (GC).  The parcel .09 miles south is located in the City of Goose Creek 
Boundary, zoned Low-Density Residential (R1). 

Recommendation: 
The property is located in the Low-Density Residential area as shown on the future land use 
map of the tentative Comprehensive Plan 2020, and surrounded by residential development 
and vacant residential zoned parcels located within Berkeley County,  zoned Low-Density 
Residential (R1), and Medium-Density Residential (R2). 

It is Staff’s opinion that the proposed zoning of Low-Density Residential is compatible with 
the location of the property and provides the necessary zoning for the best use of the 
property.  The proposed zoning would meet the lot criteria as outlined in Appendix “D” of 
the City Zoning Code.  Also, it is Staff’s view that the Low-Density Residential zoning for this 
property is consistent with the City’s tentative Comprehensive Plan 2020. 

In keeping with the future land use map designation, Staff recommends this rezoning 
request. 

Page 2 of 8
27



STAFF REPORT FOR THE 
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK PLANNING COMMISSION 

& CITY COUNCIL 
For reference, the City of Goose Creek Code of Ordinances are available online at 

https://www.cityofgoosecreek.com/government/code-ordinances 

Agenda Item 

Request #: 2021-029 MA 

Applicant: Lourdes Cardenas 

Location/Address: Old Moncks Corner Road 

Requested Zoning 
District:  

R1-Residential Low Density 

Subject Parcel 

Property Owner:  Lourdes Cardenas

Tax Map Number: 234-08-00-084

Approximate 
Acreage: 

1.13 

Plat Book & Page: CAB H - 222

NEW Comprehensive 
Plan Future Land Use 
Map Designation: 

R1-Residential Low Density 

Current Zoning: GC-General Commercial 

Property Zoning to the Property Uses to the 

North: City limits - GC-General Commercial North: VACANT PARCEL 

South: 

City limits - GC-General Commercial 

South: VACANT PARCEL 

East: City limits - CO-Conservation Open Space East: MUNICIPAL COMPLEX 

West: 

Berkeley County-R1 

West: VACANT PARCEL 

Page 3 of 8 28

bmoneer
Highlight



Aerial Map 

Zoning Map 

Page 4 of 8 29

bmoneer
Callout
SUBJECTPROPERTY234.08.00.084

bmoneer
Typewritten Text
LEGENDZONINGCLASS



Comprehensive Plan 2020 - FUTURE LAND USE MAP

Page 5 of 8 30



History of Property 

Staff Comments 

The site currently is a vacant 1.13 acre parcel. The applicant would like to build one (1) single-family 
residence on the property.  A single family home is not a permitted use by right in a GC)General 
Commercial zoning classification. Therefore, the applicant is requesting to rezone the parcel from 
GC)General Commercial to R1)Low Density Single-Family Residential.

A Church is located north at the corner of the property of Old Moncks Corner Rd and Old Mt. Holly Rd.  
There currently is a residence, located in the County, down Sass Drive.  The parcel .09 miles to the south 
is located in the City and is currently zoned R1)Low Density Single-Famly Residential.  To the east is the 
City Municipal Complex that includes the Recreation Facility, City Hall, and pond/walker trail.

In keeping with the future land use map designation, staff recommends this rezone request.

Anticipated Meeting Schedule 

Body Meeting Date Action 

Planning Commission May 4, 2021 Pending 

City Council Public Hearing May 11, 2021 Pending 

City Council Public hearing June 8, 2021 Pending 

City Council Meetings subject to change.  Please check the website for up-to-date information. 

Planning Commission Voted to recommend the request by a vote of 6 to 0. 

Planning Commission Comments: 

Motion was made to recommend the rezoning of property on the corner of Sass Drive and Old Moncks 
Corner Rd., identified as TMS# 234-08-00-084 from GC)General Commercial to R1)Low Density Single 
Family Residential.

  Date: May 4, 2021 

Relationship to Comprehensive Plan 

The newly created Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map tentatively recommends this area for R1)Single 
Family Residential Development. (see map on page 3 of 4)

Page 6 of 8 31

bmoneer
Highlight

bmoneer
Highlight

bmoneer
Typewritten Text
NONE



Page 7 of 8 32



Page 8 of 8 33



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: City Administrator Natalie Zeigler, Mayor and City Council

From: Tyler Howanyk, Chief Financial Officer

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO TITLE III, CHAPTER 34: FINANCE AND TAXATION, BY
REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY THE CURRENT SECTION "PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES"
AND ADOPTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION "PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES"
MADE A PART HEREOF AND SET OUT HEREIN (Second and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
Update to purchasing policy to include Construction Manager -At-Risk (CMAR), Design-Build
Services, adds language regarding items already approved in the fiscal year budget, and corrects
some scrivener errors.

Financial Impact
City Purchasing Policy will be updated.

Impact if denied
City Purchasing Policy will not be updated.

Impact if approved
City Purchasing Policy will be updated.

 

34



ORDINANCE NO.   
 

AN ORDINANCE 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO TITLE 
III: ADMINISTRATION, CHAPTER 34: FINANCE AND TAXATION, BY 
REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY THE CURRENT SECTION “PURCHASING 
POLICIES AND PROCEDURES” AND ADOPTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW 
SECTION “PURCHASING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES” MADE A PART 
HEREOF AND SET OUT HEREIN 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, find 

it necessary to amend the Code of Ordinances of Goose Creek, South Carolina, 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City 
Council of the City of Goose Creek, in Council properly assembled, that the Code of Ordinances of 
Goose Creek, South Carolina, are hereby amended as follows: 

 
 

Purchasing Policies and Procedures 
 

34.20 Definitions 
34.21 Purpose 
34.22 Exemptions 
34.23 Duties of purchasing agent 
34.24 Procedural regulations 
34.25 Emergency purchases 
34.26 Requisitions and estimates of future requirements 
34.27 Contracts, purchases and sales 
34.28 Open market purchases and sales 
34.29 Local Preference Policy 
34.30 Request for Qualifications 
34.31 Request for Proposals 
34.32 Purchases of patented or proprietary articles 
34.33 Project Delivery Methods 
34.334 Availability of funds 
34.335 Splitting requirements; illegal purchases 
34.336 Gratuities 
34.337 Debarment of irresponsible bidders 
34.338 Inspection 
34.339 Surplus, obsolete and waste commodities 
34.40 Approval by City Council of Contracts over $25,000, exemptions 

and prior approval 
 
 
§ 34.20 DEFINITIONS. 

For the purpose of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the context 
indicates or requires a different meaning. 

AGENCY, USING AGENCY. Any of the departments, offices or other organizational 
units of the city government. 

BIDDERS LIST. A current file of sources of supply for articles repetitively purchased for 
city use. 

CONTRACTUAL SERVICES. Any telephone, electric light and power services, towels, 
window washing and cleaning services, the rental of equipment and machinery and other 
types of agreements under which the contractor provides services which are required by 
the city government, but not furnished by city employees. CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 
do not include legal advertising, and purchases of space for legal advertising shall not be 
subject to the provisions of this chapter. 

CONSTRUCTION MANAGER-AT-RISK SERVICES. A project delivery method in which 
the city awards separate contracts, one for design services to design a project and the 
second to a construction manager at-risk for both construction of the project according to the 
design and construction management services, which include but are not limited to those 
professional services associated with contract administration, project management, and 
other services provided in connection with the administration of a construction project. 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES. A method of construction or construction contract 
management in which a single entity (or group of associated entities) provides to the city 

35



all or substantially all of the services necessary to both design and construct a project. 
DEFINITE QUANTITY CONTRACTS. A contract whereby a contractor agrees to furnish a 

specified quantity of supplies, materials or equipment at a specified time. 
INDEFINITE QUANTITY CONTRACTS. A contract whereby the city agrees to obtain 

from a contractor all its requirements for specified supplies, materials or equipment in an 
estimated, but undetermined, amount during a prescribed period of time at a definite unit 
price or at a specified discount from list or posted price. 

IRRESPONSIBLE BIDDER. A bidder who fails to furnish, upon written request, proof of 
responsibility, who has, as a vendor or contractor with the city, repeatedly made slow or 
unsatisfactory deliveries, or who has violated, or attempted to violate, the provisions of 
this chapter. 

PERSONAL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. The services of attorneys, physicians, 
architects, engineers, consultants or other individuals or organizations possessing a high 
degree of technical skill and offering the services on a fee basis. 

PRICE AGREEMENTS. An agreement whereby a contractor agrees to supply the city 
requirements for items, such as replacement parts for different makes of mechanical or 
automotive equipment during a prescribed period of time at a definite unit price, or at a 
specified discount from list or posted price. 

PURCHASING AGENT. The City Administrator or other duly designated officer or 
employee. 

RESPONSIBLE BIDDER. A bidder who has furnished, when requested, information 
and data to prove that the bidder’s financial resources, production or services facilities, 
service reputation and experience are adequate to make satisfactory delivery of supplies, 
materials, equipment or contractual service on which the bidder bids and who has not 
violated, nor attempted to violate, any provision of this chapter. 

SUPPLIES, MATERIAL, EQUIPMENT. Any articles or things which shall be furnished 
to or used by any department, including any printing, binding or publication of stationery, 
forms, laws, journals and reports. 
(1985 Code, § 9-20) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.21 PURPOSE. 

The purpose of this chapter is to secure for the city taxpayers the advantages and 
economies which will result from centralized control over the expenditure of city funds for 
supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services via the application of modern, 
business-like methods. 
(1985 Code, § 9-21) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.22 EXEMPTIONS. 

Certain items are exempt from certain purchasing requirements and the city may 
exempt specific supplies or services from the purchasing procedures herein required or 
withdraw any exemptions provided for in this section: 

(A) Advertising, including but not limited to advertising time or space in newspapers, 
on radio or television. 

(B) Medical and/or psychological services. 
(C) Policy, legal and utility services to include but not be limited to attorneys, bond 

rating services, consultants, advisors and engineers and other professional services. 
(D) Staff development to include but not be limited to: 

(1) Training provided by consultants, certified teachers/trainers; 
(2) Training materials; 
(3) Workshops, conferences, seminar registrations, etc.; 
(4) Travel. 

(E) Utilities and energy expenses to include but not be limited to: fuel, propane, 
electricity, telephone, cell phones, water/sewer. 

(F) Financial advisors and fiduciary services. 
(G) Emergency repairs. 
(H) Mail and delivery services. 
(I) Contracts for the wholesale purchase of electric service with contract terms for less 

than two years. 
(J) Contracts that are specifically approved by a city ordinance. 
(K) Contracts that relate to regularly purchased supplies, equipment, chemicals, or 

services to be used in or for the direct benefit of the city's utilities, as they now exist or 
may exist in the future. 
(Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018; Ord. 20-007, passed 3-10-2020) 

 
§ 34.23 DUTIES OF PURCHASING AGENT. 

(A) The purchasing agent purchases all supplies, materials, equipment and contractual 
services required by the city. 

(B) The purchasing agent submits to the City Council for award, and thereafter 

36



executes contracts for all purchases of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual 
services in amounts or estimated amounts as designated by City Council. 

(C) The purchasing agent negotiates contracts for personal services and submits them 
for approval and award as provided in divisions (A) and (B) above. 

(D) The purchasing agent uses standard specifications whenever they are applicable 
for purchase orders and contracts and ensures insures compliance with the specifications 
through adequate inspection of deliveries. 

(E) The purchasing agent may transfer between departments, supplies, materials and 
equipment no longer needed by a holding department, but which can be used by a 
receiving department. 

(F) The purchasing agent exchanges, trades in or sells those supplies, materials and 
equipment which are surplus, obsolete or unused and are found by the City Council not to 
be required for public use. 

(G) The purchasing agent develops, with the approval of the City Attorney as to legal 
sufficiency, standard forms and conditions of invitations to bid, purchase orders and 
contracts. 

(H) The purchasing agent prescribes the use by the departments of other forms 
required to carry out the provisions of this chapter, and amends or eliminates any such 
forms. 

(I) Upon request of the City Council, and subject to its approval of each transaction, 
the purchasing agent performs all delegable functions in connection with the acquisition 
and disposal of real property. 

(J) The purchasing agent reduces, to the maximum extent possible, the number of 
purchase transactions by combining into bulk orders and contracts the requirements of 
departments for common use items repetitively purchased. 
(1985 Code, § 9-22) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.24 PROCEDURAL REGULATIONS. 

The City Administrator Purchasing Agent is hereby authorized to prepare procedural 
regulations to amplify the provisions of this chapter; to submit the regulations and 
amendments to the City Council for approval; and to promulgate and enforce compliance 
with the regulations including, but not limited to: 

(A) The procedure for handling bids including their custody and safeguarding, opening 
and tabulation, rejection and re-advertising and the procedure for determining the lowest 
responsible bidder; 

(B) The procedure for securing from bidders the data necessary to determine whether 
they are responsible; 

(C) The procedure for inspection of deliveries of supplies, materials, equipment and 
contractual services; 

(D) The procedure for submitting requisitions for supplies, materials, equipment and 
contractual services; 

(E) The procedure for control and safeguarding of supplies, materials and equipment 
in storerooms or at storage points including the maintenance of a perpetual inventory 
system showing the quantitative amounts and monetary values of the inventories; and 

(F) The matters as may be necessary to give effect to provisions of this chapter. 
(1985 Code, § 9-23) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.25 EMERGENCY PURCHASES. 

(A) An emergency shall be deemed to exist when a breakdown in machinery or in an 
essential service occurs, or when unforeseen circumstances arise, including natural 
disasters, delays by contractors, transportation and an unanticipated volume of work. 

(B) If an emergency occurs during regular business hours, the department head shall 
immediately notify the City Administrator who shall determine the authorization of the 
necessary purchases. If the City Administrator is unavailable, the department head shall 
notify the Finance Director before making any emergency purchase. If an emergency 
occurs at any time other than regular business hours, the department head may purchase 
directly the commodities required, provided the following conditions are met: 

(1) When the estimated cost of the emergency purchase exceeds $999, the 
department head shall, whenever possible, secure competitive telephone bids and order 
delivery to be made by the lowest responsible bidder; and 

(2) On every emergency purchase made, the department head shall, within 24 hours, 
submit to the City Administrator, a requisition, a tabulation of bids received, a delivery 
receipt and a written explanation of the circumstances of the emergency. 

(C) The City Administrator shall have the authority to make emergency purchases of 
up to $5,000 without securing bids. The City Administrator shall have the authority to 
make emergency purchases over $5,000 without securing bids with the approval of the 
Mayor. While not required in the event of an emergency, the City Administrator shall 
secure bids if it is practical. 

37



(1985 Code, § 9-24) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 
 
§ 34.26 REQUISITIONS AND ESTIMATES OF FUTURE REQUIREMENTS. 

(A) All department managers shall submit to the City Administrator Purchasing Agent 
requisitions for supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services required for 
departmental operations within the limits of funds appropriated therefor. The City 
Administrator Purchasing Agent may require department managers to justify the quantity 
or quality of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services requisitioned. 

(B) All department heads shall file with the City Administrator estimates of their 
requirements for supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services in the form, at 
the time and for the future periods as the City Administrator shall prescribe. 
(1985 Code, § 9-25) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 
 
§ 34.27 CONTRACTS, PURCHASES AND SALES. 

(A) All purchases of, and contracts for, supplies, materials, equipment and contractual 
services and all sales of personal property found by the City Council not to be required for 
public use, shall be based, whenever possible, on competitive bids. If the amount of the 
expenditure for a contractual service or for a commodity normally obtained from the same 
source of supply, or for a sale of personal property found by the City Council not to be 
required for public use, is estimated to exceed $25,000, contract bids shall be solicited by 
public notice and written contracts shall be awarded, except when the services of 
central state purchasing are utilized. The methods and extent of public notice shall be 
prescribed by the City Council. If newspaper advertisements are employed as public 
notice, the notice shall include a general description of the commodities or services to be 
purchased or the commodities to be sold, shall state where contract bids and 
specifications may be secured, and shall specify the time and place for opening of bids. 

(B) The City Administrator Purchasing Agent shall may, in addition, solicit bids from 
prospective bidders, as listed on the bidders list, by sending them copies of the 
newspaper notice or other notice as will acquaint them with the proposed purchase or 
sale. All pending purchases or sales shall also, in all cases, be advertised by posting a 
copy of the contract bid form on a public bulletin board in or adjacent to the City Hall. 

(C) (1) All bids shall be submitted sealed to the City Administrator Purchasing Agent 
on the official contract bid form and, in an envelope,, which shall have indicated thereon 
the class of commodities to be purchased and the established time for opening of bids. A 
tabulation of all bids received, whether accepted or rejected, shall be open for public 
inspection during regular business hours for a period of not less than 30 calendar days 
after the bid opening. 

(2) The City Administrator Purchasing Agent shall submit a copy of the tabulation and 
all bids received to the City Council, together with the Administrator’s award. The City 
Administrator Purchasing Agent may reject any or all bids for any or all commodities or 
contractual services included in the bid form and may re-advertise for bids when the public 
interest will be served thereby, but will report the action and the reasons therefor to the 
City Council. If all bids received are for the same total amount or unit price, and if the 
public interest will not permit the delay of re-advertising for bids, the City Council may 
authorize the City Administrator or Purchasing Agent to award the contract to one of the 
tie bidders by drawing of lots in public, or to purchase the commodities or contractual 
services in the open market, provided the price paid in the open market shall not exceed 
the lowest contract bid price submitted for the same commodity or contractual service. In 
all other cases, the contract shall be awarded by the City Council to the lowest responsible 
bidder for purchases and the highest responsible bidder for sales. In determining the 
lowest or highest responsible bidder, the City Council and the City Administrator 
Purchasing Agent shall take into consideration the quality offered and its conformity with 
the specifications, the delivery and discount terms and conditions of the bid, the service 
reputation of the bidder and other information and data required to prove the bidder’s 
responsibility. 

(D) Contracts for personal property sales shall be awarded by the City Council to the 
highest responsible bidder and shall be subject to all other applicable requirements of this 
section. 

(E) It shall be the duty of the City Administrator Purchasing Agent to discourage 
uniform bidding by every possible means, and to endeavor to obtain full and open 
competition on all purchases and sales. Accordingly, the City Administrator Purchasing 
Agent shall require each bidder to accompany the bidder’s bid with a statement made 
under oath that the bidder has not been a party with other bidders to an agreement to bid a 
fixed or uniform price. Violation of the statement shall render void the bid of the bidders. 
Any disclosure to, or acquisition by, a competitive bidder, in advance of the opening of 
the bids of the terms or conditions of the bid submitted by another competitor shall render 
the proceedings void and shall require re-advertising for bids. 

(F) All contract forms shall be approved by the City Attorney as to legality. All contracts 
shall be signed on behalf of the city by the Purchasing Agent. A copy of each signed 

38



contract shall be filed with the City Clerk. 
(G) No city real property shall be sold except by ordinance of the City Council and after 

the publication of the notice of sale in a newspaper of general circulation in the city at 
least seven days prior to the sale. The notice shall contain a property description, the 
name of the purchaser and the terms of and consideration for the sale. 
(1985 Code, § 9-26) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.28 OPEN MARKET PURCHASES AND SALES. 

(A) If the amount of the expenditure for a contractual service or a class of commodities 
normally obtained from the same source of supply, or for a sale of personal property found 
by the City Council not to be required for public use, is estimated to be less than $25,000, it 
shall be an open market transaction and shall not be subject to the requirements of § 
34.27. However, all open market transactions shall, whenever possible, be based on at 
least three competitive bids. 

(B) The City Administrator Purchasing Agent shall solicit bids by direct mail requests 
to prospective bidders for the class of commodities being purchased or sold as listed on 
the bidders list, and by posting a copy of the invitation to bid on a public bulletin board in 
or adjacent to the City Hall. However, bids may be solicited by telephone for open market 
purchases or sales of less than $5,000. 

(C) Written bids shall be submitted sealed to the City Administrator Purchasing Agent 
in an envelope indicating the class of commodities being purchased or sold, and the 
established time for opening of the bids. All written bids shall be opened at the time and 
place stated in the invitation. The City Administrator Purchasing Agent shall make a 
tabulation of all written and telephone bids, and the records shall be open to public 
inspection for at least 30 days after the date of the bid opening or telephone transaction. 

(D) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, if the purchase of supplies, 
materials, equipment or contractual services is less than $1,000, the City Administrator, 
at the Administrator’s discretion only, may waive the competitive bidding requirements of 
this section and may make the purchases without calling for bids. The City Administrator 
shall not delegate to any other city officer or employee the discretion of determining 
whether a purchase involving an expenditure of less than $1,000 shall be based on 
competitive bids. However, price and quality being equal preference shall be given to 
responsible local bidders. 
(1985 Code, § 9-27) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.29 LOCAL PREFERENCE POLICY. 

(A) The city seeks to encourage the participation of local businesses to provide goods 
and/or services to the city, resulting in increased economic activity through more local 
jobs, tax revenues and to entice businesses to locate in the city. 

(B) For purposes of this section, a LOCAL BUSINESS shall be defined as follows: 
(1) The business has established and maintained a physical presence within the city 

limits via the ownership or lease of a building or portion of a building, for a period of not 
less than 12 consecutive months; and 

(2) The business employs a minimum of two full time employees at the physical 
location inside the city limits; and 

(3) The business has maintained a valid business license for the past 12 months; 
and 

(4) The business is not delinquent to the city in any payments; and 
(5) There are no active code enforcement or planning/zoning actions against the 

business. 
(C) Local preference exemptions: 

(1) Purchases greater than $25,000. 
(2) The local preference policy is not applicable to contracts required by state or 

federal statutes or regulations to be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder. 
(3) Purchases funded by outside agencies that prohibit the use of preferences; 

examples include but are not limited to state or federal funding. 
(D) A local business shall indicate on the quote or bid submission that the business 

qualifies as a “local business” under this policy. The city is not responsible for investigating 
whether a business qualifies as a local bidder if the indication is not included on the 
submitted quote or bid. 

(E) The preferential discount of 5% may be applied to the low bid of “local business” 
when determining the lowest responsible bid. This policy applies to the purchase of goods 
and services that are purchased with a total cost of less than $25,000. 

(F) In instances where a local business and a non-local business submit equivalent 
lowest responsible bids or tie bids, the City Administrator Purchasing Agent has the option to 
give preference to the local business. 

(G) The City Administrator Purchasing Agent may provide the local business bidder, 
who is within 5% of the lowest responsible bidder, with a notice and an opportunity to 

39



reduce its bid to match the lowest non-local bid. Notice may be given by telephone, in 
writing, or electronic mail. The local business shall have three business days after the 
date of such notice to match the lowest bid in writing. Should the local business match, it 
may be deemed the lowest responsible bidder. 

(H) No contract awarded under this section shall be assigned or subcontracted in any 
manner that permits more than 50% of the dollar value of the contract to be performed by 
an entity that is not a local business. 

(I) The city shall not make any preference to local businesses that may result in 
burdensome or unreasonable costs to the taxpayers nor should it restrict the city from 
rejecting inferior products or services. 

(J) The city reserves the right to waive or amend this policy when deemed appropriate 
and the City Administrator has the sole and final authority to resolve any disputes that 
may arise over this policy. 
(Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 
 
§ 34.30 REQUESTS FOR QUALIFICATIONS. 

Prior to soliciting bids, the City Administrator Purchasing Agent may issue a request for 
qualifications from prospective bidders. Such request shall contain at minimum, a 
description of the goods or services to be solicited by the request for qualifications, the 
general scope of the work, the deadline for submission of the information, and how the 
prospective bidders may apply for consideration. The request shall require information 
concerning the prospective bidders’ product specifications, qualification, experience, and 
ability to perform the requirements of the contract. After receipt of the responses to the 
request for qualification from prospective bidders, the prospective bidders shall be ranked 
from most qualified to least qualified based on the information provided by the City 
Administrator Purchasing Agent. The City Administrator Purchasing Agent may then 
request formal bids from one or more of the top ranked bidders. The failure of a 
prospective bidder to be selected to receive the invitation for bids shall not be grounds for 
protest. 
(Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.31 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS. 

(A) Proposals are typically requested for goods or services that are highly technical or 
complex in nature. Examples include but are not limited to the following: professional 
services, legal services, architectural services, engineering services. The use of 
proposals shall be determined by the City Administrator Purchasing Agent. The ranking of 
proposals shall be performed by the City Administrator Purchasing Agent and/or City 
Council. Rankings shall be based on whose proposal is the most advantageous to the 
city. Price does not need to be an evaluation factor in the determination of acceptability of 
the proposal; however, evaluation factors should be stated in the request for proposals. 

(B) Prior to soliciting proposals, and at the discretion of the City Administrator 
Purchasing Agent, a request for qualifications may be requested from prospective 
bidders. 
(Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.32 PURCHASES OF PATENTED OR PROPRIETARY ARTICLES. 

(A) When the city requires supplies, materials or equipment produced by only one 
manufacturer, the City Administrator Purchasing Agent shall specify the manufacturer’s 
make or brand in the invitation to bid and shall obtain competitive bids from authorized 
dealers or distributors of the manufacturer. If the manufacturer is the only bidder and only 
source of supply, the City Administrator Purchasing Agent is authorized to negotiate an 
open market purchase on contract with the manufacturer at prices and on terms most 
advantageous to the city. 

(B) When the city requires supplies, materials or equipment which is patented or 
proprietary and which is obtainable in two or more equally satisfactory and competitive 
makes, brands or types, the City Administrator Purchasing Agent shall list the acceptable 
and competitive makes, brands or types in the invitation to bid. The lists shall also include 
the phrase “or equal” to permit bidders to bid on alternate or additional makes, brands or 
types. It shall be incumbent on each bidder to prove to the satisfaction of the City 
Administrator Purchasing Agent that the alternate or additional make, brand or type 
offered is equal in quality or performance to those listed in the invitation to bid. 
(1985 Code, § 9-28) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 
 
§ 34.33 PROJECT DELIVERY METHODS 

(A) The City may use a design-build contract as alternative project delivery methods in 
appropriate circumstances. The City Administrator may determine in his or her discretion 
the appropriate procedure is a design-build method The Purchasing Agent shall advertise 
and seek appropriate proposals. Because the nature of a design-build involve sometimes 
competing considerations of the best design, price, and qualifications of the applicant, 

40



such delivery methods shall not require the use of a sealed bid process and shall be 
based on the total merit of the applicant’s proposal. Because the nature of design build 
contracts often involve permanent improvements, the Purchasing Agent shall provide a 
summary the merits of each proposal for City Council to select the most qualified proposal or 
to reject all proposals. 

(B) The City may use the construction manager at-risk method as an alternative delivery 
method in appropriate circumstances. The City Administrator may determine in his or her 
sole discretion the appropriate procedure is a construction manager at-risk method. The 
Purchasing Agent shall advertise and seek appropriate proposals for the construction 
manager at-risk method. Because the construction manager at-risk method involves 
competing consideration of price and skills for a project where the design has already 
been determined or will be determined by separate selection, the Purchasing Agent shall 
determine the most qualified applicant taking into consideration price and quality. 

 
§ 34.334 AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS. 

Except in emergencies as provided for in § 34.25, no notice of award of contract shall 
be issued, no contract shall be signed and no open market purchase order shall be issued 
until the Finance Director shall have certified that the unexpended balance in the budget 
appropriation or appropriations concerned is sufficient to defray the amount of the 
contract or purchase order. 
(1985 Code, § 9-29) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 
 
§ 34.335 SPLITTING REQUIREMENTS; ILLEGAL PURCHASES. 

(A) It shall be unlawful for any department of the city government to split its 
requirements for supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services into estimated 
amounts of less than $25,000 in order to evade the provisions of § 34.27. 

(B) If any department of city government purchases or contracts for any supplies, 
materials, equipment or contractual services contrary to the provisions of this chapter, the 
purchase or contract shall be void and of no effect. The employee making the purchase 
or contract shall be personally liable for the amount of the purchase or contract, and if 
already paid for out of city funds, the amount therefor may be recovered in the name of 
the city in an appropriate legal action. 
(1985 Code, § 9-30) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.336 GRATUITIES. 

(A) The acceptance of any gratuity in the form of cash, merchandise or any other thing, 
except those items or things of nominal value, by an official or employee of the city from 
any vendor or contractor, shall be deemed a violation of this chapter and shall be cause 
for removal or other disciplinary action. 

(B) The offer of any gratuity to any official or employee of the city by any vendor or 
contractor, or prospective vendor or contractor, shall be cause for declaring the individual or 
firm an irresponsible bidder and debarring them from bidding as provided by § 34.36. 
(1985 Code, § 9-31) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.337 DEBARMENT OF IRRESPONSIBLE BIDDERS. 

The City Administrator may determine and declare a bidder to be irresponsible for the 
reasons cited in the definition thereof in §§ 34.34 and 34.35. If a bidder is determined to 
be irresponsible, the City Administrator may remove the bidder from the bidder’s list and 
may debar the bidder from bidding for a reasonable period, but not less than one year. 
The debarred bidder shall be furnished with a statement of the reason for the action. 
(1985 Code, § 9-32) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 
 
§ 34.338 INSPECTION. 

(A) The receiving department shall inspect deliveries of supplies, materials and 
equipment, or the furnishing of contractual services to insure their conformance with the 
specifications set forth in the purchase order or contract. 

(B) The City Administrator shall have the authority to require chemical and physical 
tests of samples submitted with bids and samples of deliveries to the extent necessary to 
determine their quality and conformance to the specifications. 
(1985 Code, § 9-33) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.339 SURPLUS, OBSOLETE AND WASTE COMMODITIES. 

(A) All departments shall submit to the City Administrator, at times and in the form as 
the City Administrator shall prescribe, reports showing stocks of all supplies, materials 
and equipment no longer used or which have become obsolete, worn out or scrapped. 
The City Administrator shall have authority to transfer any commodities which are 
unusable to another department in lieu of filling requisitions for the purchase of new or 
additional stock of the same or similar articles. 

41



(B) The City Administrator shall have the authority to sell all the supplies, materials 
and equipment which cannot be used by any department and has been found by the City 
Council not to be required for public use, or to exchange or trade in the articles in part or 
full payment for new supplies, materials or equipment of a similar nature. Any sale, 
exchange or trade shall be made in accordance with §§ 34.27 and 34.28, whichever is 
applicable. 
(1985 Code, § 9-34) (Ord. 18-032, passed 12-11-2018) 

 
§ 34.40 APPROVAL BY CITY COUNCIL OF CONTRACTS OVER $25,000; 
EXEMPTIONS AND PRIOR APPROVALS. 

City Council shall approve all contracts over $25,000, except: 
(A) Contracts and items as listed in § 34.22 EXEMPTIONS 
(B) Contracts for goods and/or services approved by City Council by an identifiable 

line item in the current budget year 
(C) Contracts for good and/or services that (i) are a part of a larger transaction that 

has already been approved by City Council and (ii) do not exceed the amount budgeted 
for such part in the original approval 

(D)    Contracts for goods and/or services that are to be paid with proceeds of a debt 
issue if the project is identified in the ordinance authorizing the bond issue; and 

(E) Contracts which do not exceed by more than 10%, up to a $25,000 maximum, the 
amount previously authorized by City Council via the methods set forth in (B), (C)  

or (D) of this section. 
 

All ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed. 

This ordinance shall be effective on the date of final reading. 

 
INTRODUCED the 11th day of May, 2021. 
 
DONE the    day of June, 2021. 

 
 
       
Mayor Gregory S. Habib 
 

 
Attest:       
 Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
 
            
Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac   Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher 
 
 
 
            
Councilmember Corey McClary  Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain 
  
 
 
            
Councilmember Hannah J. Cox   Councilmember Melissa Enos 
 
 

42



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Mayor and City Council Members

From: Mark Brodeur

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE "CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA", BY AMENDING TITLE XV - LAND USAGE, SUBCHAPTER "ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS
SECTION 151.173(B)(1) - MEETINGS", AND SUBCHAPTER "ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD
SECTION 151.190(F)(6) - MEETINGS" BY REMOVING ANY REFERENCES TO THE START TIME FOR
THEIR RESPECTIVE MEETINGS - (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
The proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment would remove any Municipal Code requirements for
the starting time of public meetings before the Architectural Review Board and Zoning Board of
Appeals.

Financial Impact
None

Impact if denied
Both the ARB and the ZBA would not be permitted to meet at an earlier or later time.

Impact if approved
ARB and ZBA would be permitted to vary their start times to accommodate the public.

 

43



-- -

Mark J. Brodeur
Planning Director

CITY HALL
519 N. GOOSE CREEK BLVD.

P.O DRAWER 1768

GOOSE CREEK, SC 29445-1768

TEL (843) 797-6220 EXT 1118
FAX (843) 863-5208

   mbrodeur@cityofgoosecreek.com

     

TO: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City 
Council

FROM: Mark Brodeur, Planning and Zoning 
Director

DATE:  June 8, 2021

SUBJECT: Public Hearing to consider the elimination of a ‘Start 
Time” for meetings before the Architectural Review Board and Zoning 
Board of Appeals

Proposal:
The proposed Zoning Code Text Amendment would remove any Municipal 
Code requirements for the starting time of public meetings before the 
Architectural Review Board and Zoning Board of Appeals.

Background:
Only two Boards/Commissions in the City have their start time 
established by Municipal Code. Those Boards and Commissions may 
find that those start times are not appropriate and may want to establish 
their own start times as the need arises.
The Architectural Review Board (ARB) and the Zoning Board of Appeals 
(ZBA) have their start times established by the Municipal Code as 
outlined in Chapters 151.173 and 151.190. No other Boards or 
Commissions have their meeting start times regulated by the Municipal 
Code.

Discussion:
It would seem inconsistent that only two Boards or Commissions have their 
start times regulated by the Municipal Code. Other boards, including the 
City Council are not bound by such restrictions. At different times, each 
board or commission may want to adjust their start times to accommodate 
its members, staff or the public as appropriate.

Recommendation:
Open and hold a Public Hearing and recommend the removal of the
Municipal Code sections that establishe a start time for the Architectural 
Review Board and Zoning Board of Appeals meetings.

44



45



§ 151.173 ORGANIZATION, MEETINGS AND RULES OF PROCEDURE.

   (A)   Organization.

      (1)   Rules. The rules of procedures are adopted pursuant to S.C. Code § 6-29-790.

      (2)   Officers. The officers of the ZBA shall be a Chairperson and a Vice-
Chairperson elected for a one year term before the end of each calendar year. The ZBA 
shall appoint a member of the staff of the City as Secretary (non-voting member) of the 
ZBA.

      (3)   Chairperson. The Chairperson shall be a voting member of the ZBA and shall 
have the following duties:

         (a)   Call meetings of the ZBA;

         (b)   Preside at meetings and hearings, and swear in witnesses;

         (c)   Act as spokesperson for the ZBA;

         (d)   Sign documents for the ZBA;

         (e)   Have orders of the ZBA served on parties, and in case of contempt may 
certify the fact to the Circuit Court having jurisdiction; and

         (f)   Perform other duties approved by the ZBA.

      (4)   Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall exercise the duties of the 
Chairperson in the absence, disability or disqualification of the Chairperson. In the 
absence of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson, the acting Chairperson shall be 
elected by the members present.

      (5)   Secretary. The duties of the Secretary shall be as follows:

         (a)   Provide and publish notice of appeals and meetings;

         (b)   Assist the Chairperson in preparation of agenda;

         (c)   Keep recordings and minutes of meetings and hearings showing the vote of 
each member upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote, indicating that fact;

         (d)   See that property involved in appeals and variances or special exceptions is 
properly posted;

         (e)   Keep records of ZBA examinations and other official actions;

         (f)   Maintain ZBA records as public records;

         (g)   Serve ZBA decisions on parties;

         (h)   Attend to ZBA correspondences; and

         (i)   Perform other duties normally carried out by a Secretary.

   (B)   Meetings.

46



      (1)   Time and place. All scheduled meetings shall be open to the public and
conducted in accordance with state law. Parties in interest may appear personally or by 
agent. ZBA meetings shall be held at 6:30 p.m. at the Marguerite Brown Municipal 
Center, 519 North Goose Creek Boulevard, unless otherwise announced. Special 
meetings may be held on the call of the Chairperson upon 24 hours’ notice, at the other 
times as the ZBA may determine, posted and delivered to all members and the local 
news media, and designate the time and place of its meetings.

47



ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD
§ 151.190 ORGANIZATION.

   The Architectural Review Board shall organize itself as follows:

   (A)   Creation. There is hereby created an Architectural Review Board (hereinafter 
referred to as the “ARB”) to be composed of seven members appointed by the Mayor 
and City Council (hereinafter referred to as “the Council”), City of Goose Creek. The 
Council will consider for appointment to the ARB only those persons who reside in the 
city and have demonstrated their civic interest, general knowledge of the city, 
independent judgment and availability to prepare for and attend meetings. Members 
shall also have a demonstrated interest in, and/or competence and knowledge of, 
architecture, landscape architecture and urban design. It is the intent of City Council 
that members shall, by reason of diversity in their individual occupations, constitute an 
ARB which is broadly representative of the Community.

   (B)   Terms of office. The members of the ARB shall be identified by place numbers 
one through seven. The four odd-numbered places shall expire on December 31, of 
each odd-numbered year, with the three even-numbered to expire on December 31, of 
each even-numbered year. Vacancies shall be filled for unexpired terms. ARB members 
may be appointed to succeed themselves. All terms shall be for two years, except those 
initially appointed to the ARB whose terms expire on December 31, of the first odd or 
even numbered year as stated above. Newly appointed members shall be installed at 
the first regularly scheduled ARB meeting after their appointment. No member shall be 
the holder of an elected public office in the city while serving on the ARB.

   (C)   Vacancy. A vacancy in a term of office shall occur whenever Council finds that a 
member has resigned, not maintained required qualifications, has not attended properly 
called meetings without just cause or has been found guilty of malfeasance or 
misconduct in office.

   (D)   Intent and purposes. The intent and purposes of the ARB are as follows:

      (1)   To protect and provide for the unique, special and desired character of the 
Commercial and Light Industrial Districts and uses inside the City of Goose Creek, in 
terms of positive visual and aesthetic appearances of these districts and uses including 
their respective roadways;

      (2)   The above intent and purpose can be achieved through positive site design, 
superior architectural standards, attractive street scape improvements, adequate 
provision of landscape elements and harmonious combinations of signage along both 
sides of the roadways and street scales of the City of Goose Creek;

      (3)   To discourage piecemeal development and create unity along the Commercial 
and Light Industrial Districts and uses of the city;

      (4)   To foster civic beauty;

48



      (5)   To encourage designs which produce a desirable relationship between 
individual buildings, the circulation system and adjacent areas and to permit a flexible, 
high quality response of development to a variety of land uses and activities;

      (6)   To assure respect for the character, integrity and quality of the built and natural 
environments of the city; and

      (7)   It is not the intent of the city to stifle innovative architecture.

   (E)   Duties and powers. All new developments proposed within the Commercial and 
Light Industrial Districts and uses of the city shall be subject to the procedures, 
standards and guidelines specified in the following sections, in addition to those 
standards pertaining to the particular zoning district in which the development occurs. 
This will be accomplished through evaluation of proposed developments by the ARB 
which shall review the character, and appearance of the proposed developments in a 
positive manner. It is the purpose of the review to determine, in a cooperative fashion 
with the developer (hereinafter referred to as the “applicant”), whether the proposed 
plan meets the guidelines and other standards as specified.

      (1)   Criteria for modifications; changes to be reviewed by the ARB. If any of the 
criteria below applies, ARB approval is required:

         (a)   Modifications and/or changes in excess of 10% of the property value of a 
parcel of property shall be reviewed by the ARB, but this shall be 50% for structures that 
predate the existence of the Architectural Review Design Ordinance adopted April 20, 
1993;

         (b)   Substantial architectural change in the structure(s);

         (c)   All color changes;

         (d)   All changes in signs; and

         (e)   Change in appearance of structure(s).

      (2)   Annual report. The ARB shall submit an annual report to Council each year, 
summarizing its activities and achievements. The report shall include the identity of ARB 
members and their respective meeting attendance record.

   (F)   Organization and rules of procedures.

      (1)   Rules. The rules of procedures are adopted pursuant to S.C. Code § 6-29-790.

      (2)   Officers. The officers of the ARB shall be a Chairperson and a Vice-
Chairperson elected for one-year term before the end of each calendar year. The ARB 
shall appoint a member of the staff of the city as Secretary (non-voting member) of the 
ARB.

      (3)   Chairperson. The Chairperson shall be a voting member of the ARB and shall 
have the following duties:

         (a)   Call meetings of the ARB;

49



         (b)   Presides at meetings and hearings, and swear in witnesses;

         (c)   Act as spokesperson for the ARB;

         (d)   Sign documents for the ARB;

         (e)   Have order of the ARB served on parties, and in case of contempt, may 
certify the fact to the circuit court having jurisdiction; and

         (f)   Perform other duties approved by the ARB.

      (4)   Vice-Chairperson. The Vice-Chairperson shall exercise the duties of the 
Chairperson in the absence, disability or disqualification of the Chairperson. In the 
absence of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson, the acting Chairperson shall be 
elected by the members present.

      (5)   Secretary. The duties of the Secretary shall be as follows:

         (a)   Provide and publish notice of appeals and meetings;

         (b)   Assist the Chairperson in preparation of agenda;

         (c)   Keep recordings and minutes of meetings and hearings, showing the vote of 
each member upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote, indicating that fact;

         (d)   Keep records of ARB examinations and other official actions;

         (e)   Maintain ARB records as public records;

         (f)   Attend to ARB correspondences; and

         (g)   Perform other duties normally carried out by a Secretary.

      (6)   Meetings.

         (a)   Time and place. All regularly scheduled meetings shall be open to the public, 
and conducted in accordance with state law. Parties in interest may appear personally 
or by agent. Regular meetings shall be held each month on the third Monday, 
at 6:30 p.m. at the Marguerite Brown Municipal Center, 519 North Goose Creek 
Boulevard, unless otherwise announced. Special meetings may be held on the call of 
the Chairperson upon 24 hours notice, at other times as the ARB may determine, 
posted and delivered to all members and the local news media, and designate the time 
and place of its meetings. Deadlines for ARB meetings occur at least 14 days prior to 
meeting dates. An annual schedule of regular meetings shall be adopted, published and 
posted at City Hall in December of each year.

50



ORDINANCE NO.: 

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE “CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, 
SOUTH CAROLINA”, BY AMENDING TITLE XV – LAND USAGE, SUBCHAPTER “ZONING 
BOARD OF APPEALS SECTION 151.173(B)(1) - MEETINGS”, AND SUBCHAPTER 
ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW BOARD SECTION 151.190(F)(6) MEETINGS” BY REMOVING ANY 
REFERENCES TO THE START TIME FOR THEIR RESPECTIVE MEETINGS

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Goose Creek held a public hearing on June 8, 2021, 
to receive public comment and to consider a change in the Municipal Code removing references to 
meeting start times for the Zoning Board of Appeals and the Architectural Review Board, and;

WHEREAS, the City Council of Goose Creek desires to allow individual boards and 
commissions to establish their own start times as may be necessary to accommodate the public,
and;

WHEREAS, the current zoning subchapters specifically require that the Zoning Board of 
Appeals (ZBA) and Architectural Review Board (ARB) meet at 6:30 pm, and;

WHEREAS, the City Council of Goose Creek wants to remove inconsistent elements in the 
Code.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, that the Code of Ordinances of the City of Goose Creek, South 
Carolina, is hereby amended to remove mandated start times for meetings for any board or 
commission.

  
All ordinances and provisions in conflict herewith are repealed, and if any sentence, clause, 

phrase, or word contained herein shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the validity of 
the remainder of this ordinance.

This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption. 

INTRODUCED the 8th day of June 2021.

DONE the day of July 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

51



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL

From: MARK J BRODEUR

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA,
BY CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 128 HOWE HALL
ROAD (TMS # 252-01-03-007) FROM CONSERVATION/OPEN SPACE DISTRICT (CO) TO GENERAL
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT (GC) - (Introduction and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
Request rezoning by owner of a property located on Howe Hall Road. The property, 128 Howe
Hall Road, is an existing mini storage facility named “Mini Warehouses of Goose Creek”. The
rezone proposal is to rezone this 2.35-acre property from Conservation/Open Space (C/OS) to
General Commercial (GC).

Financial Impact
The scope of the financial impact is significant in a positive way.

Impact if denied
Property may not be improved as a Non-conforming Use.

Impact if approved
Approval will permit the property owner to make needed improvements to existing use.

 

52



-

Mark J. Brodeur
Planning Director

CITY HALL
519 N. GOOSE CREEK BLVD.

P.O DRAWER 1768

GOOSE CREEK, SC 29445-1768

TEL (843) 797-6220 EXT 1118
FAX (843) 863-5208

   mbrodeur@cityofgoosecreek.com

     

TO: Mayor and City Council

FROM: Mark Brodeur, Director, Planning & 
Zoning

DATE: June 8, 2021

SUBJECT: Rezoning Request

Proposal:
The applicant, Wando Properties, LLC, has requested to come before the 
Council to request rezoning a property located on Howe Hall Road. The 
property, 128 Howe Hall Road, is an existing mini storage facility named 
“Mini Warehouses of Goose Creek”. The rezone proposal is to rezone this 
2.35-acre property from Conservation/Open Space (C/OS) to General 
Commercial (GC). According to the Berkeley County Property Card, the 
property was annexed into the City of Goose Creek effective August 13, 
2013.

Background:
The subject property is identified as TMS #252-01-03-007. The property 
defines one of the City boundaries at the southern end of Goose Creek.
The property is narrow and very deep.  There is one primary structure that 
is very long and narrow. There are also several uncovered RV’s stored on 
the lot.

Discussion:
As currently situated, the mini-storage land use is a legal non-conforming 
use in the Conservation/Open Space Zoning designation. Since the use 
is non-conforming, no expansion or substantial improvements are 
permitted. The applicant wishes to change the zoning in order to make 
small, incremental improvements to the office and primary structure.
The current use is categorized in the Zoning Ordinance as 
“Warehousing, mini warehouses, with units having access from exterior 
of unit”. That use is permitted in the City’s General Industrial District and 
Heavy Industrial District. The applicant and staff felt that those two
proposed zoning designations were inappropriate given the zoning
currently surrounding the property. Thus, the applicant simply wants to 
rezone the property General Commercial while acknowledging that only 
small improvements can be made.
The subject site is bounded by a variety of land uses. Directly across the 
street is Howe Hall Aims Elementary School. Flanking the site is a vacant 
5.21-acre wooded site that is zoned General Commercial and owned by 
Wando Properties LLC. This property was annexed into the City in 2006. 
On the other flank, the properties are in Berkeley County and are zoned 
R-2 and General Commercial. There are no industrially zoned properties 
in the vicinity.

Recommendation:
Hold the first reading of two readings and direct the City Clerk to 
schedule the second of the two public hearings.

53



54



Page 1 of 5 
 

 

STAFF REPORT FOR THE 
CITY OF GOOSE CREEK PLANNING COMMISSION & CITY 

COUNCIL 
For reference, the City of Goose Creek Code of Ordinances are available online at 

https://www.cityofgoosecreek.com/government/code-ordinances 

 

Agenda Item  

Request #: 2520103007 

Applicant: David W. Bunch, Chairman/CEO Bunch Truck Group 

Location/Address: 128 Howe Hall Road 

Requested Zoning 
District:  

GC – General Commercial 

 

Subject Parcel 

Property Owner: Wando Properties, LLC 

Tax Map Number: 252-01-03-007 

Approximate 
Acreage: 

2.35 

Plat Book & Page: 3738, Page 0321 

NEW Comprehensive 
Plan Land Use Map 
Designation: 

Village Node Mixed Use 

Current Zoning:   CO - Conservation Open Space  

 

Property Zoning to the  Property Uses to the 

North: General Commercial North: School 

South: General Commercial South: Multi-Family Residential 

East: Berkeley County General Commercial East: Duplex residential and vacant 

West: General Commercial West: Vacant 

 
  

55



Page 2 of 5 
 

Aerial Map  
 

    
 

Zoning Map  
 

 
  

56



Page 3 of 5 
 

 
Comprehensive Plan  

 

 

57



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
Relationship to Comprehensive Plan  

The newly created Comprehensive Plan tentatively recommends this area for Village Node District.  The 

Village Node District is intended to encourage the mixture of residential, commercial and institutional uses 
in a walkable setting.  
 

  

       
History of Property  

Date  Type of Request  Decision  

2006  Annexation Annexed 

   

 
Staff Comments 

The Applicant is requesting to rezone the parcel from CO - Conservation Open Space to GC General 
Commercial. In 2006 when it was annexed into the City the Co Zoning was automatically applied to the 
property. The applicant never sought to rezone it appropriately. 
Click or tap here to enter text. 

 

 

An existing mini storage facility occupies the site. The applicant would like to remove the “mobile home” 
office into a more permanent structure. 

 
Anticipated Meeting Schedule 

Body  Meeting Date  Action  

Planning Commission  April 6, 2021 Pending 

Planning Commission Click or tap here to enter text.  

City Council Public Hearing May 11, 2021 Pending 

City Council Public hearing June 8, 2021 Pending 

City Council Meetings subject to change.  Please check the website for up-to-date information. 

 

 

 

 

 

58



Page 5 of 5 
 

 

 

 

 
Planning Commission Voted to _______ the request by a vote of __ to _____.  
 
Planning Commission Comments:  
Motion was made to ________ the rezoning of 128 Howe Hall Road from Conservation/Open Space to 
General Commercial on April 6, 2021.  
 

 

 

 

 
Planning Commission Chair Signature:                                                                               Date: April 6, 2021 

Joshua Johnson 

 

59



ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK,
SOUTH CAROLINA, BY CHANGING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF THE
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 128 HOWE HALL ROAD (TMS # 252-01-03-007) FROM
CONSERVATION/OPEN SPACE DISTRICT (CO) TO GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
(GC)

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Goose Creek held a public
hearing on April 6, 2021 to receive public comment and to consider a change in
zoning classification from Conservation/Open Space (CO}to General Commercial
(GC); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to said public hearing, the Planning Commission voted
unanimously to recommend approval of the rezoning of the property aforesaid to the
General Commercial (GC) zoning district; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Goose Creek unanimously voted to 
support the zone change.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City
Councilof the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, that the Zoning Map of the City
of Goose Creek, South Carolina, is hereby amended by changing the zoning district
classification of the property located at 128 Howe Hall Road, designated as TMS #235-
01-03-007, from Conservation/Open Space (CO) to General Commercial (GC).

All ordinances and provisions in conflict herewith are repealed, and if any
sentence, clause, phrase, or word contained herein shall be held invalid, such
invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this ordinance.

This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption.

INTRODUCED the 8th day of June 2021.

DONE the day of July 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

60



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator, Mayor and City Council

From: Brian Cook, Asst. City Administrator

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE BY REPEALING IN ITS
ENTIRETY THE CURRENT CHAPTER 152. SMALL WIRRELESS FACILITIES AND REPLACING IT WITH A
NEW CHAPTER 152. STANDARDS FOR PLACEMENT OF SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES - (Introduction
and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
The S.C. General Assembly by Act 179 of 2020, referred to as the South Carolina Small Wireless
Facilities Deployment Act, established terms, conditions, procedures, rates, and fees upon which
Small Wireless Facilities may be deployed in the right of way. The new version MASC model
ordinance is proposed. 

Financial Impact
Minimal

Impact if denied
Not fully in compliance with the South Carolina Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act

Impact if approved
In compliance with the South Carolina Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act

 

61



1

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PROVIDE FOR CHANGES TO THE ZONING ORDINANCE BY 
REPEALING IN ITS ENTIRETY THE CURRENT CHAPTER 152. SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES 
AND REPLACING IT WITH A NEW CHAPTER 152. STANDARDS FOR PLACEMENT OF SMALL 
WIRELESS FACILITIES

WHEREAS, the City of Goose Creek (the “Municipality”) encourages wireless infrastructure 
investment and wishes to provide a fair and predictable process for the deployment of Small 
Wireless Facilities (as defined herein) while managing the right of way in a manner that promotes 
the interests of the public health, safety, and welfare;

WHEREAS, the Municipality recognizes that Small Wireless Facilities, including facilities 
commonly referred to as small cell and distributed antenna systems, are critical to delivering 
wireless access to advanced technology, broadband, and 9-1-1 services to residences, businesses, 
and schools within the Municipality;

WHEREAS, the Municipality recognizes that Small Wireless Facilities together with high-
capacity transport medium such as fiber optic cabling may be effectively deployed in the right of 
way;

WHEREAS, by Act 179 of 2020, referred to as the South Carolina Small Wireless Facilities 
Deployment Act and codified as S.C. Code §§ 58-11-800 et seq. (the “SWF Act”), the South Carolina 
General Assembly has established the terms, conditions, procedures, rates, and fees upon which 
Small Wireless Facilities may be deployed in the right of way;

WHEREAS, the Municipality has previously enacted Ordinance No. 18-014 on July 10, 2018
(the “Prior SWF Ordinance”), which established the terms, conditions, procedures, rates, and fees 
that shall apply to the deployment of Small Wireless Facilities in the right of way;

WHEREAS, in order to ensure that the Municipality is in compliance with the SWF Act, the 
Municipality hereby repeals the Prior SWF Ordinance and replaces it, in its entirety and effective 
immediately, with the text set forth below;

WHEREAS, this Ordinance is intended to grant municipal consent to use of the right of way
and establish a standard application process to streamline the issuance of necessary permits in a 
manner that is not a barrier to competition, and does not unnecessarily delay the implementation 
and installation of Small Wireless Facilities;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH CAROLINA, that Title XV of the Municipality’s Code of Ordinances is 
hereby amended by repealing in its entirety the current Chapter 152 and by replacing it to add a new 
Chapter 152 entitled “Standards for Placement of Small Wireless Facilities,” to read as follows:

Section 1. Definitions.

“Antenna” means (a) communications equipment that transmits or receives electromagnetic radio 
frequency signals used in the provision of Wireless Services; and (b) similar equipment used for the 
transmission or reception of surface waves.

“Applicable Codes” means uniform building, fire, electrical, plumbing, or mechanical codes adopted 
by a recognized national code organization, or local amendments to those codes that are of general 
application, address public safety, and are consistent with this Ordinance.

“Applicant” means any Person who submits an Application.

“Application” means a request submitted by an Applicant for a Permit to (i) Collocate Small Wireless 
Facilities; or (ii) install, modify, or replace a Pole.

“Collocate” means to install, mount, maintain, modify, operate, or replace Small Wireless Facilities 
on or adjacent to a Pole or Support Structure. “Collocation” has a corresponding meaning.

“Communications Facility' means the set of equipment and network components, including wires, 
cables, surface wave couplers, and associated facilities used by a cable operator, as defined in 47 

62



2

U.S.C. Section 522(5); a provider of “video service” as defined in S.C. Code § 58-12-300(10); a 
telecommunications carrier, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(51); a provider of information 
service, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(24); or a Wireless Services Provider to provide 
Communications Services, including cable service, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 522(6); 
telecommunications service, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(53); an information service, as 
defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(24); Wireless Services; surface wave communication; or other one-
way or two-way communications service.

“Communications Network” means a network used to provide Communications Service.

“Communications Service” means cable service as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 522(6), information 
service as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(24), telecommunications service as defined in 47 U.S.C. 
Section 153(53), or Wireless Services.

“Communications Service Provider” means a cable operator, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 522(5); 
a provider of information service, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(24); a telecommunications 
carrier, as defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(51); or a Wireless Provider.

“Day” means a calendar day unless the last day for the Municipality or an Applicant to take action 
under this Ordinance ends on a weekend, holiday, or time when all, but Municipality emergency 
services are closed due to weather or some unforeseen situation.

“Decorative Pole” means a Pole, including a Municipality Pole, that is specially designed and placed 
for aesthetic purposes and on which no appurtenances or attachments (other than a Small Wireless 
Facility, public safety devices, or specially designed informational or directional signage or 
temporary holiday or special event attachments) have been placed or are permitted to be placed 
according to nondiscriminatory rules or codes.

“Design District” means a discrete area within the jurisdiction of the Municipality for which the 
Municipality maintains and enforces unique design and aesthetic standards on a uniform and 
nondiscriminatory basis among all occupants of the ROW, on the grounds that the characteristics of 
the discrete area warrant design and aesthetic standards that differ from those that apply to the 
majority of the areas within the jurisdiction of the Municipality. [The Design Districts in existence or 
otherwise established as of the date hereof are set forth in Exhibit A hereto.]

“Design Manual” means a manual or guidebook that sets forth additional aesthetic, design, 
concealment, and stealth requirements applicable to Small Wireless Facilities. The Design Manual 
may also, but need not, set forth examples of Small Wireless Facility deployments that the 
Municipality deems to comply with this Ordinance. [The initial form of the Design Manual is 
attached hereto as Exhibit B.]

“Eligible Facilities Request” means a request for modification of an existing tower or base station 
(as those terms are defined in 45 CFR §1.6100(b)) that does not involve a substantial change in the 
physical dimensions of such tower or base station and that involves Collocation of new transmission 
equipment, removal of transmission equipment, or replacement of transmission equipment.

“Fee” means a one-time, non-recurring charge.

“Historic District" means a group of buildings, properties, or sites that is either:

(a) listed in the National Register of Historic Places or formally determined 
eligible for listing by the Keeper of the National Register, the individual who has been 
delegated the authority by the federal agency to list properties and determine their 
eligibility for the National Register, in accordance with Section VI.D.1.a.i v of the Nationwide 
Programmatic Agreement codified at 47 C.F.R. Part 1, Appendix C; or

(b) a registered historic district pursuant to State law at the time the 
Application is submitted; or

(c) an “overlay zone,” as defined in and limited by the South Carolina 
Comprehensive Planning Act, (1) that has been established by the Municipality at least sixty 
days prior to the relevant Application; (2) for which the special public interest to be 
protected is the preservation and protection of historic and architecturally valuable districts 
and neighborhoods or archaeologically significant resources according to uniform design 
standards; and (3) for which the Municipality maintains and enforces objective standards 
that are published in advance and applied on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis.

63



3

“Micro Wireless Facility” means a Small Wireless Facility that (a) is not larger in dimension than 
twenty-four inches in length, fifteen inches in width, and twelve inches in height; and (b) for which 
no exterior antenna is longer than eleven inches.

“Municipality Pole” means a Pole owned, managed, or operated by or on behalf of the Municipality; 
provided, however, that such term shall not include any Pole, Support Structure, electric 
transmission structure, or equipment of any type that is part of a municipally owned or municipally 
controlled electric plant or system for furnishing of electricity to the public for compensation. The 
term Municipality Pole shall include, without limitation, Poles that the Municipality leases, rents, 
licenses, or otherwise compensates the owner thereof for the provision of street lighting.

“Permit” means a written authorization, in electronic or hard copy format, required to be issued by 
the Municipality to initiate, continue, or complete the Collocation of a Small Wireless Facility or the 
installation, modification, or replacement of a Pole upon which a Small Wireless Facility is to be 
Collocated.

“Person” means an individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, trust, 
or other entity or organization, including the Municipality.

“Pole” means a vertical pole such as a utility, lighting, traffic, or similar pole made of wood, concrete, 
metal, or other material that is lawfully located or to be located within the ROW including, but not 
limited to, a replacement Pole and a Municipality Pole.  A Pole shall not include a support structure 
or electric transmission structure.

“Rate” means a recurring charge.

“Right of Way” or “ROW” means the area through, upon, over, or under a road, highway, street, 
sidewalk, alley, or similar property provided; however, that such term shall apply only to property or 
any interest therein that is under the ownership or control of the Municipality and shall not include 
property or any interest therein acquired for or devoted to a federal interstate highway. For 
purposes of this definition, the Municipality shall be deemed to have “control” of property and 
interests thereon owned by the State and/or the South Carolina Department of Transportation to 
the extent that such property and interests are within the territorial jurisdiction of the Municipality.

“Small Wireless Facility” means radio transceivers; surface wave couplers; Antennas; coaxial or 
fiber optic cable located on a Pole or Support Structure, immediately adjacent to a Pole or Support 
Structure, or directly associated with equipment located on a Pole or Support Structure and within 
a one hundred-foot radius of the Pole or Support Structure; regular and backup power supplies and 
rectifiers; and associated ancillary equipment, regardless of technological configuration, at a fixed 
location or fixed locations that enable communication or surface wave communication between 
user equipment and a Communications Network and that meets both of the following qualifications:

(a) each Wireless Provider’s Antenna could fit within an enclosure of no more 
than six cubic feet in volume; and

(b) all other wireless equipment associated with the Small Wireless Facility, 
whether ground- or pole-mounted, is cumulatively no more than twenty-eight cubic feet in 
volume. The following types of associated ancillary equipment are not included in the 
calculation of the volume of all other wireless equipment associated with any such facility: 
electric meters, concealment elements, network interface devices, grounding equipment, 
power transfer switches, cut-off switches, and vertical cable runs for the connection of 
power and other services.

The term “Small Wireless Facility” does not include: the Pole, Support Structure, or improvements 
on, under, or within which the equipment is located or Collocated or to which the equipment is 
attached; Wireline Backhaul Facilities; or coaxial or fiber optic cable that is between Small Wireless 
Facilities, Poles, or Support Structures or that is otherwise not immediately adjacent to or directly 
associated with a particular Antenna. For purposes of this definition, in order to be considered 
directly associated with equipment located on a Pole or Support Structure, coaxial or fiber optic 
cable must not extend more than one hundred feet in radial circumference from the base of the Pole 
or Support Structure to which the Antenna is attached. No portion of a Small Wireless Facility may 
be used as a Wireline Backhaul Facility.

“State” means the State of South Carolina.

“Supplemental Review Districts” means Design Districts, Historic Districts, and Underground 
Districts.

64



4

“Support Structure” means a building, billboard, or any other structure in the ROW to which a Small 
Wireless Facility is or may be attached. A “Support Structure” shall not include an electric 
transmission structure or pole.

“Technically Feasible” means that by virtue of engineering or spectrum usage, the proposed 
placement for a Small Wireless Facility or its design, concealment measures, or site location can be 
implemented without a material reduction in the functionality of the Small Wireless Facility.

“Underground District” means a group of buildings, properties, or sites in which the Municipality, at 
least sixty days prior to the relevant Application, has required all communications and electric lines 
in the specified geographic area to be placed underground, and for which the Municipality maintains 
and enforces objective standards that are published in advance and applied on a uniform and 
nondiscriminatory basis. [The Underground Districts in existence or otherwise established as of the 
date hereof are set forth in Exhibit A hereto.]

“Wireless Infrastructure Provider” means any Person, including a Person authorized to provide 
telecommunications service in the State, acting to build or install wireless communication 
transmission equipment, Small Wireless Facilities, or Support Structures, but that is not a Wireless 
Services Provider.

“Wireless Provider” means a Wireless Infrastructure Provider or a Wireless Services Provider.

“Wireless Services” means any services using licensed or unlicensed spectrum, including the use of 
Wi-Fi, whether at a fixed location or mobile, provided to the public.

“Wireless Services Provider” means a Person who provides Wireless Services.

“Wireline Backhaul Facility” means an above-ground or underground wireline facility used to 
transport communications between a small wireless facility network interface device and a network 
or another small wireless network interface device.

Section 2. Purpose and Scope; General Provisions.

(a) Purpose. The purpose of this Ordinance is to provide policies and procedures for the 
placement of Small Wireless Facilities in ROWs within the jurisdiction of the Municipality.

(b) Scope and Intent. It is the intent of this Ordinance to establish uniform standards 
applicable to the application for and deployment of Small Wireless Facilities in a manner that serves 
the interests of the Municipality, its citizens, and the general public by advancing the following 
purposes:

(1) Prevention of interference with the use of streets, sidewalks, alleys, 
parkways, traffic light poles or other light poles, and other public ways and places; 

(2) Prevention of visual and physical obstructions and other conditions that are 
hazardous to vehicular and pedestrian traffic; 

(3) Prevention of interference with other facilities and operations of facilities 
lawfully located in the ROWs or public property; 

(4) Preservation of the character of neighborhoods where facilities are 
installed; 

(5) Preservation of the character of and applicable land use requirements 
within Design Districts, Historic Districts, and Underground Districts; and

(6) Facilitation of the rapid deployment of Small Wireless Facilities to provide 
the citizens with the benefits of advanced Wireless Services.

(c) Applicable only to Small Wireless Facilities. Nothing in this Ordinance limits the 
Municipality’s powers with respect to wireless facilities that are not Small Wireless Facilities in the 
ROW, or Poles that are used for purposes other than installation of Small Wireless Facilities in the 
ROW.

(d) Right to Prevent Interference. The Municipality retains the right to require that all 
Small Wireless Facilities shall be operated and maintained in a manner that does not interfere with 
public safety (police, traffic control, fire, and emergency services) equipment.

(e) Imminent Risk to Public Safety. If the Municipality determines that a Wireless 
Provider’s activity in the ROW pursuant to this Ordinance creates an imminent risk to public safety, 

65



5

the Municipality may provide written notice to the Wireless Provider and demand that the Wireless 
Provider address such risk. If the Wireless Provider fails to reasonably address the risk within twenty-
four hours of the written notice, the Municipality may take or cause to be taken action to reasonably 
address such risk and charge the Wireless Provider the reasonable documented cost of such actions.

Section 3. Permitted Use; Application Process and Fees.

(a) Permitted Use and Consent. A Wireless Provider shall have the right, as a permitted 
use subject to review and conditions as set forth herein, to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities and 
install, maintain, modify, operate, and replace Poles in the ROW. These structures and facilities must 
be installed and maintained so as not to create a safety hazard; obstruct or hinder the usual travel in 
or the public’s safe use of the ROW; or obstruct the legal use of the ROW by utilities. In accordance
with Article VIII, Section 15 of the State Constitution and related municipal code and ordinance 
provisions, the Municipality consents to the use of the ROW by Permit holders acting in compliance 
with this Ordinance.

(b) Permit Required.

(1) No Person shall Collocate a Small Wireless Facility or install a new, modified, 
or replacement Pole or Support Structure associated with a Small Wireless Facility without 
first filing a Small Wireless Facility Application and obtaining a Permit as set forth herein. 
The Municipality may require an Applicant to obtain additional permits for such activity, 
provided that such additional permits are of general applicability and do not apply 
exclusively to Small Wireless Facilities. An Applicant shall not be required to obtain or pay 
any fees for a building permit, as the Permit issued pursuant to this Ordinance serves as a 
building permit for the applicable Poles and Small Wireless Facilities. Any applications for 
any such additional permits, once submitted, must be acted upon within the same number 
of days as an Application for a Permit under this Ordinance. The Municipality shall publish 
and keep current a list of each additional permit that is required for the Collocation of a Small 
Wireless Facility or the installation of a new, modified, or replacement Pole. Any failure to 
comply with this subsection by a Wireless Provider shall allow the Municipality, in its sole 
discretion, to restore the ROW to its condition prior to the unpermitted Collocation or 
installation and to charge the responsible Wireless Provider its reasonable, documented 
cost of restoration, plus a penalty not to exceed one thousand dollars ($1,000). The 
Municipality may suspend the ability of the Wireless Provider to receive any new Permits 
from the Municipality until the Wireless Provider has paid the amount assessed for such 
restoration costs; provided, however, that the Municipality shall not suspend such ability of 
any Applicant that has deposited the amount in controversy in escrow pending an 
adjudication of the merits.

(2) For deployments in ROWs under the ownership or control of the South 
Carolina Department of Transportation (“SCDOT”), a Wireless Provider may, in lieu of filing 
a formal Application hereunder, request that the Municipality evidence its approval of the 
proposed deployment by consenting in writing to the Wireless Provider’s application for a 
SCDOT encroachment permit. If the Municipality consents in writing to the issuance of an 
SCDOT encroachment permit, it shall concurrently therewith issue a Permit consistent with 
such consent. In all cases, the Municipality’s consent may be conditioned on compliance 
with the Municipality’s lawful and applicable design, aesthetic, stealth, and concealment 
standards, and subject to the foregoing, the Municipality will not unreasonably withhold or 
delay its written consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Wireless Provider shall retain 
the right to file a formal Application for a Permit hereunder, in which case the terms, 
conditions, and requirements of this Ordinance shall apply in full to such Application.

(c) Permit Applications. All Applications filed pursuant to this Ordinance shall be on a 
form, paper or electronic, as required by the Municipality. The Applicant may designate portions of 
its Application materials that it reasonably believes contain proprietary or confidential information 
as “proprietary” or “confidential” by clearly marking each page of such materials accordingly, and 
the Municipality shall endeavor to protect materials so designated from public disclosure to the 
fullest extent permitted by State law. 

(d) Application Requirements. The Application shall be made by the Applicant, or its 
duly authorized representative as noted in a notarized statement from the Applicant, and shall 
contain the following:

(1) the Applicant’s name, address, telephone number, and email address, 
including emergency contact information for the Applicant;

66



6

(2) the names, addresses, telephone numbers, and email addresses of all 
consultants, if any, acting on behalf of the Applicant with respect to the filing of the 
Application; 

(3) a general description of the proposed work and the purposes and intent of 
the proposed facility. The scope and detail of such description shall be appropriate to the 
nature and character of the physical work to be performed, with special emphasis on those 
matters likely to be affected or impacted by the physical work proposed; 

(4) detailed construction drawings regarding the proposed use of the ROW;

(5) to the extent the proposed facility involves Collocation on a Pole, 
Decorative Pole, or Support Structure, a structural report performed by a duly licensed 
engineer in South Carolina evidencing that the Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support Structure 
will structurally support the Collocation, or that the Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support 
Structure may and will be modified to meet structural requirements, in accordance with 
Applicable Codes;

(6) for any new aboveground facilities, visual depictions, or representations if 
such are not included in the construction drawings; 

(7) information indicating the approximate horizontal and vertical locations, 
relative to the boundaries of the ROW, of the Small Wireless Facility for which the 
Application is being submitted; 

(8) if the Application is for the installation of a new Pole or replacement of a 
Decorative Pole, a certification that the Wireless Provider has determined after diligent 
investigation that it cannot meet the service objectives of the Application by Collocating on 
an existing Pole or Support Structure on which:

(A) the Wireless Provider has the right to Collocate subject to 
reasonable terms and conditions; and

(B) such Collocation would be Technically Feasible and would not 
impose significant additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it has 
made such a determination in good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer 
licensed in South Carolina, and shall provide a written summary of the basis for such 
determination;

(9) if the Small Wireless Facility will be Collocated on a Pole or Support 
Structure owned by a third party, other than a Municipality Pole, a certification that the 
Wireless Provider has permission from the owner to Collocate on the Pole or Support 
Structure;

(10) an affirmation that the Applicant is, on the same date, submitting 
applications for the permits identified in the list the Municipality maintains pursuant to 
Section 3(b) of this Ordinance;

(11) any additional information reasonably necessary to demonstrate 
compliance with the criteria set forth in Section 4(f) of this Ordinance; and

(12) for any Applicant that is not a Wireless Services Provider, an attestation that 
a Wireless Services Provider has requested in writing that the Applicant Collocate the Small 
Wireless Facilities or install, modify, or replace the Pole at the requested location.

(e) Routine Maintenance and Replacement. An Application shall not be required for:
(1) routine maintenance; (2) the replacement of Small Wireless Facilities with Small Wireless 
Facilities that are substantially similar or the same size or smaller; or (3) the installation, placement, 
maintenance, operation, or replacement of Micro Wireless Facilities that are suspended on cables 
that are suspended between Poles or Support Structures in compliance with Applicable Codes by a 
Wireless Provider that is authorized to occupy the ROW and that is remitting a consent, franchise, 
or administrative fee pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-9-2230. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Municipality may require that prior to performing any activity described above, an Applicant must 
apply for and receive a permit for work that requires excavation or closure of sidewalks or vehicular 
lanes within the ROW for such activity. Such a permit must be issued to the Applicant on a 
nondiscriminatory basis upon terms and conditions that are consistent with Applicable Codes and 
that apply to the activities of any other Person in the ROW that require excavation or the closing of 
sidewalks or vehicular lanes.

67



7

(f) Information Updates. Any amendment to information contained in an Application 
shall be submitted in writing to the Municipality within ten (10) business days after the change 
necessitating the amendment. 

(g) Consolidated Application. An Applicant seeking to Collocate Small Wireless 
Facilities may submit a single consolidated Application, provided that such a consolidated 
Application shall be for a geographic area no more than two miles in diameter and for no more than
thirty Small Wireless Facilities. In such case, the Applicant may receive a single Permit for the
Collocation of multiple Small Wireless Facilities. The denial of one or more Small Wireless Facilities 
in a consolidated Application must not delay processing of any other Small Wireless Facilities in the 
same consolidated Application. Solely for purposes of calculating the number of Small Wireless 
Facilities in a consolidated Application, a Small Wireless Facility includes any Pole on which such 
Small Wireless Facility will be Collocated.

(h) Application Fees. The Municipality hereby determines that the following Fees for 
Applications are reasonable and nondiscriminatory and do not recover more than the Municipality’s 
direct costs for processing an Application. For each Application, the Municipality hereby imposes 
Fees as follows:

(1) for Applications to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities on existing Poles or 
Support Structures, one hundred dollars ($100) each for the first five Small Wireless 
Facilities in the same Application and fifty dollars ($50) for each additional Small Wireless 
Facility in the same Application;

(2) for Applications to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities on new Poles, one 
thousand dollars ($1,000) for each Pole, which Fee covers both the installation of the new 
Pole and the Collocation on the new Pole of associated Small Wireless Facilities; and 

(3) for Applications to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities on modified or 
replacement Poles, two hundred fifty dollars ($250) for each Pole, which Fee covers both the 
modification or replacement of the Pole and the Collocation on the Pole of associated Small 
Wireless Facilities.

The Application Fee shall apply to a Wireless Provider regardless of whether the Wireless Provider 
is subject to a business license tax that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant to S.C. Code Section 
58-9-2220 or a franchise, consent, or administrative fee that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant 
to S.C. Code Section 58-9-2230. The Application Fee shall apply to a Communications Service 
Provider regardless of whether the Communications Service Provider is subject to a franchise fee 
that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant to S.C. Code Section 58-12-330.

(i) Consultant Fees. To the extent that the Municipality engages one or more 
consultants to assist in review of Applications, the Municipality shall impose a Fee for such 
Applications to the extent permitted by, and calculated in accordance with, S.C. Code Section 58-
11-850(D)(4).

Section 4. Action on Permit Application.

(a) Notice of Incompleteness. Within ten days of receiving an Application, the 
Municipality must determine and notify the Applicant in writing whether the Application is 
complete. If an Application is incomplete, the Municipality shall specifically identify the missing 
information in writing. The processing deadline set forth in Section 4(b) below is tolled from the time 
the Municipality sends the notice of incompleteness to the time the Applicant provides the missing 
information. The processing deadline also may be tolled by agreement of the Applicant and the 
Municipality, confirmed in writing. 

(b) Time Requirements for Review of Applications. An Application must be processed 
on a nondiscriminatory basis. The following shall apply to all Applications except those for Eligible 
Facilities Requests, which are addressed below in Section 4(c). The Municipality shall make its final 
decision to approve or deny the Application within sixty (60) days of receipt of a complete 
Application for Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities and within ninety (90) days of receipt of a 
complete Application for the installation, modification, or replacement of a Pole and the Collocation 
of associated Small Wireless Facilities on the installed, modified, or replaced Pole. If the Municipality 
fails to act on an Application within the applicable time period, the Applicant may provide the 
Municipality written notice that the time period for acting has lapsed. The Municipality shall then 
have twenty (20) days after receipt of such notice to render its written decision. The Application shall 
be deemed to have been approved by passage of time and operation of law if the Municipality does 
not render its written decision within the noticed twenty (20) days. If applicable federal or State law 
establishes a shorter period or different requirements for action, the Municipality shall comply with 

68



8

such applicable law, but the remedy for non-compliance shall be limited to the remedy established 
by that applicable law.

(c) Eligible Facilities Requests.  If the Application is an Eligible Facilities Request, the 
Municipality shall approve the Application within 60 days of receipt of the Application, subject to 
tolling after notification of an incomplete application until the date when the Applicant submits all 
the documents and information identified in the notice of incompleteness. Any approval shall be 
operative, and any Permit issued pursuant to this subsection shall remain in effect, only for so long 
as federal law (47 U.S.C. § 1455) and implementing Federal Communications Commission 
regulations (47 C.F.R. §1.40001) provide for special approval of an Eligible Facilities Request. In 
approving an Eligible Facilities Request hereunder, the Municipality intends only to comply with the
requirements of federal law and not to grant any property rights, interests, or consents except as 
compelled by federal law.

(d) Notice in Writing Required. The Municipality shall notify the Applicant in writing of 
its final decision. If the Application is denied, the Municipality shall specify the basis for a denial, 
including citations to federal, State, or local code provisions and/or statutes on which the denial was 
based.

(e) Right to Cure. The Applicant may cure the deficiencies identified by the Municipality 
and resubmit the Application within thirty (30) days of the denial without paying an additional 
Application Fee. The Municipality shall approve or deny the revised Application within thirty (30) 
days of resubmission and limit its review to the deficiencies cited in the denial. If the Municipality 
fails to act on a revised Application within this thirty-day period, the Applicant may provide the 
Municipality written notice that the time period for acting has lapsed, and the Municipality shall then 
have five (5) days after receipt of such notice to render its written decision approving or denying the 
revised Application. The revised Application shall be deemed to have been approved by passage of 
time and operation of law if the Municipality does not render its written decision within the noticed 
five (5) days.

(f) Permissible Bases for Denial. The Municipality may deny an Applicant’s proposed 
Collocation of a Small Wireless Facility or a proposed installation, modification, or replacement of a 
Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support Structure only if the proposed Collocation, installation, 
modification, or replacement: 

(1) interferes with the safe operation of traffic control or public safety 
equipment; 

(2) interferes with sight lines or clear zones for transportation or pedestrians;

(3) interferes with compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act or 
similar federal or State standards regarding pedestrian access or movement; 

(4) requests that ground-mounted Small Wireless Facility equipment be 
located more than seven and one-half feet in radial circumference from the base of the Pole, 
Decorative Pole, or Support Structure to which the Antenna is to be attached, provided that 
the Municipality shall not deny the Application if a greater distance from the base of the 
Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support Structure is necessary to avoid interfering with sight lines 
or clear zones for transportation or pedestrians or to otherwise protect public safety;

(5) fails to comply with the height limitations permitted by this Ordinance or (if 
applicable) in the Design Manual, or with reasonable and nondiscriminatory horizontal 
spacing requirements of general application adopted by an enactment that concern the 
location of ground-mounted equipment and new Poles;

(6) designates the location of a new Pole, Decorative Pole, or Support Structure
for the purpose of Collocating a Small Wireless Facility within seven feet in any direction of 
an electrical conductor, unless the Wireless Provider obtains the written consent of the 
power supplier that owns or manages the electrical conductor;

(7) fails to comply with Applicable Codes; 

(8) fails to comply with the requirements applicable to the aesthetic, stealth, 
and concealment requirements contained in this Ordinance, with the requirements 
applicable to Supplemental Review Districts, or (if applicable) with the Design Manual;

(9) fails to comply with laws of general applicability that address pedestrian and 
vehicular traffic and safety requirements; or 

69



9

(10) fails to comply with laws of general applicability that address the occupancy 
or management of the ROW and that are not otherwise inconsistent with this article.

(g) Requirement to Replace or Upgrade. The Municipality may not require a Wireless 
Provider to replace or upgrade an existing Pole except for reasons of structural necessity, 
compliance with Applicable Codes, or compliance with this Ordinance (including, if applicable, the 
Design Manual). A Wireless Provider may, with the permission of the Pole owner, replace or modify 
existing Poles, but any such replacement or modification must be consistent with the design 
aesthetics of the Poles being modified or replaced.

(h) Compensation. Subject to the limitations set forth herein, every Permit shall include 
as a condition the Applicant’s agreement to pay such lawful franchise fees, business license taxes, 
administrative fees, and consent fees as are permitted under applicable South Carolina and federal 
law. The Applicant shall also pay all applicable ad valorem taxes, service fees, sales taxes, or other 
taxes and fees as may now or hereafter be lawfully imposed on other businesses within the 
Municipality.

Section 5. Requirements for Small Wireless Facilities; New, Modified, or Replacement Poles; 
Decorative Poles.

(a) Administrative Review. The Municipality shall perform an administrative review of 
Applications including the location or installation of new, modified, or replacement Poles and/or
Support Structures and the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities and equipment on Poles or 
Support Structures. Review factors, in addition to location, shall include the size, shape, color, 
texture, and materials of the structures and attachments. 

(1) The Municipality may require that a proposed Small Wireless Facility or 
new, modified, or replacement Pole be designed to not be significantly more readily 
apparent or plainly visible (to a reasonable person of ordinary sensibilities) than existing 
facilities, structures, equipment, and Poles located within five hundred (500) linear feet on 
the same ROW as the subject Small Wireless Facility, Pole, or Support Structure.

(2) Where Small Wireless Facilities are determined to be appropriate, the use 
of reasonable stealth and concealment treatments, low-profile equipment and control 
boxes, and screening may be required to avoid significant negative impacts on the character 
and visual aesthetics of the area. However, such requirements may be waived by the 
Municipality upon a showing that the particular location of a Small Wireless Facility does not 
warrant stealth or concealment treatments or imposes an excessive expense. The waiver 
shall be granted or denied within forty-five (45) days after the date of the request.

(3) Supplemental Review Districts identified in Section 5(c) [and listed in 
Exhibit A] may be subject to a higher level of review.

(4) The Municipality may maintain a Design Manual which sets forth additional 
aesthetic, design, concealment, and stealth requirements applicable to Small Wireless 
Facilities. The Design Manual may also, but need not, set forth examples of Small Wireless 
Facility deployments that the Municipality deems to comply with this Ordinance and 
provide a means for pre-approval of designs that are suitable for a particular location, even 
if not strictly compliant with the design, placement, and aesthetic requirements of this 
Ordinance provided the design otherwise serves the goals of this Ordinance. [If the 
Municipality initially adopts a Design Manual: The initial form of the Design Manual is 
attached hereto as Exhibit B. The Design Manual may be amended from time to time by 
way of a duly enacted resolution.]

(b) Maximum Size of Permitted Use.

(1) New Small Wireless Facilities (including any related Antenna) in the ROW 
may not extend more than ten feet above an existing Pole in place as of the effective date 
of this Ordinance, or for Small Wireless Facilities (including any related Antenna) on a new 
Pole, above the height permitted for a new Pole pursuant to this section.

(2) Each new, modified, or replacement Pole installed in the ROW may not 
exceed the greater of ten feet in height above the tallest existing Pole in place as of the 
effective date of this Ordinance located within five hundred feet of the new, modified, or 
replacement Pole in the same ROW, or fifty feet above ground level, except in Design 
Districts and Historic Districts where the height limit is forty feet above ground level.

70



10

(3) For Applications to place Poles in residential zoning districts to deploy Small 
Wireless Facilities, the Municipality may propose an alternate location in the ROW within 
one hundred fifty feet of the location set forth in the Application, and the Wireless Provider 
shall use the Municipality’s proposed alternate location unless the location is not Technically 
Feasible or imposes significant additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it 
has made such a determination in good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer 
licensed in South Carolina, and it shall provide a written summary of the basis for such 
determination.

(4) Collocation is not allowed on a Decorative Pole less than twenty feet in 
height.

(5) New Poles are not permitted in a corridor where there are existing Poles 
that can be used, modified, or replaced to allow the proposed Collocation, unless the 
Applicant can demonstrate that (A) it is not Technically Feasible to use, modify, or replace 
such existing Poles; or (B) such use, modification, or replacement would impose significant 
additional costs on the Wireless Provider, as certified by the Wireless Provider in good faith 
and based on the assessment of an engineer licensed in South Carolina along with a written 
summary of the basis for the certification; or (C) a new Pole may be placed in a manner that 
will cause no more interference with the ROW and will have no more of an impact on the 
overall appearance of the corridor and on adjoining properties than would the use, 
modification, or replacement of an existing Pole.

(c) Supplemental Review Districts. Collocated Small Wireless Facilitates and new, 
modified, or replacement Poles or Support Structures located in Supplemental Review Districts shall 
be subject to the compliant provisions (as defined in the SWF Act) pertaining to design and aesthetic 
standards in the ordinance establishing the Supplemental Review District(s) in addition to the 
requirements of this Ordinance. In addition, the following rules shall apply within the Supplemental 
Review Districts.

(1) Underground Districts. A Wireless Provider shall comply with reasonable and 
nondiscriminatory requirements that prohibit the installation of Poles in the ROW in an 
Underground District where: (A) no less than sixty days prior to the submission of the 
Application, the Municipality has required all such lines to be placed underground; (B) Poles 
the Municipality allows to remain are made available to Wireless Providers for the 
Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities and may be replaced by a Wireless Provider to 
accommodate the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities in compliance with this 
Ordinance; and (C) a Wireless Provider is allowed to install a new Pole when it is not able to 
provide Wireless Services by Collocating on a remaining Pole or Support Structure. Nothing 
in this section shall prohibit the use or replacement of existing Poles or Support Structures 
in Underground Districts for the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities subject to 
appropriate design and concealment measures and a finding that such use or replacement 
does not increase the height of the Pole or Support Structure by more than three feet.

For any such Application to install a new Pole in an Underground District, the 
Municipality may propose an alternate location in the ROW within one hundred fifty (150) 
feet of the location set forth in the Application. The Wireless Provider shall use the 
Municipality’s proposed alternate location unless the location is not Technically Feasible or 
imposes significant additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it has made such 
a determination in good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer licensed in South 
Carolina, and it shall provide a written summary of the basis for such determination. For 
Small Wireless Facilities installed before the Municipality establishes an Underground 
District, the Municipality shall either permit Wireless Providers to maintain the Small 
Wireless Facilities in place or permit the Wireless Provider to replace the associated Pole 
within fifty (50) feet of the prior location. In the latter case, the Wireless Provider shall allow 
other Communications Service Providers with attachments on the existing Pole to place 
those attachments on the replacement Pole under the same or reasonably similar fees, 
rates, terms, and conditions as applied to those attachments on the existing Pole.

(2) Historic and Design Districts. The Municipality may require reasonable, 
Technically Feasible, nondiscriminatory, and technologically neutral design and aesthetic 
requirements, stealth requirements, height limitations of no less than forty feet, and/or 
concealment measures in a Design District or Historic District. For Applications to place 
Poles in a Design District or a Historic District to deploy Small Wireless Facilities, the 
Municipality may propose an alternate location in the ROW within one hundred fifty (150)
feet of the location set forth in the Application. The Wireless Provider shall use the 
Municipality’s proposed alternate location unless the location is not Technically Feasible or 
imposes significant additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it has made such 

71



11

a determination in good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer licensed in South 
Carolina, and it shall provide a written summary of the basis for such determination.

This section may not be construed to limit a municipality's authority to enforce historic preservation 
zoning regulations consistent with the preservation of local zoning authority under 47 U.S.C. Section 
332(c)(7), the requirements for facility modifications under 47 U.S.C. Section 1455(a), or the National 
Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (54 U.S.C. Section 300101 et seq.), and the regulations adopted to 
implement those laws.

(d) Appeals, Administrative Adjustments, and Variance Requirements. The Zoning 
Administrator shall be given authority to make field based administrative adjustments considering 
the specific criteria in this section and location factors. Appeals of administrative decisions and 
requests for other variances from the provisions of this Ordinance, when strict application would 
result in an unnecessary hardship or in the inability to deploy needed Small Wireless Facilities, shall 
be heard, and decided by the Board of Zoning Appeals. An Applicant seeking an approval to 
construct a new Decorative Pole, Pole, or Support Structure to Collocate a Small Wireless Facility in 
an Underground District shall demonstrate, including certification through an engineer should staff 
find it necessary, that it has diligently attempted to locate the proposed Decorative Pole, Pole, 
Support Structure, or Small Wireless Facility outside of the Underground District and that 
placement of the Decorative Pole, Pole, Support Structure, or Small Wireless Facility within the 
Underground District is necessary to provide the needed wireless coverage or capacity, and one or 
more of the following conditions exist supporting an approval: 

(1) No existing Pole or Support Structure is located within the location search 
radius or to the extent a Pole or Support Structure is located within the search radius, such 
Pole or Support Structure:

(A) is not available for Collocation under commercially reasonable 
rates, terms, and conditions;

(B) cannot accommodate the Collocation of the Small Wireless Facility 
and meet the technical requirements necessary to deliver adequate wireless service 
coverage or capacity; or

(C) would require modifications exceeding the three-feet height 
limitation imposed in section 5(c)(1); or

(2) The only available option to deliver adequate wireless service coverage or 
capacity in the search radius requires modifications to an existing Pole or Support Structure 
exceeding the three-feet height limitation imposed in section 5(c)(1) or the installation of a 
new Pole or Support Structure for Collocation of a Small Wireless Facility, or

(3) The applicant has demonstrated other circumstances that, in the reasonable 
discretion of the applicable review body, warrant a variance.

The Applicant shall abide by the design, stealth, and concealment treatments imposed as conditions 
of the approval.

(e) Existing Supplemental Review Districts. [Supplemental Review Districts approved 
by the Municipality as of the effective date of this Ordinance are listed in Exhibit A.] Nothing in this 
Ordinance shall prohibit or otherwise limit the Municipality from establishing additional 
Supplemental Review Districts, provided however, that facilities and structures for which a Permit
was approved or deemed approved pursuant to this Ordinance prior to the establishment of the 
additional Supplemental Review District remain subject to the provisions of this Ordinance,
including routine maintenance and replacement of those facilities and structures as set out herein. 
If a Wireless Provider voluntarily replaces such facilities in a manner that does not comply with 
Section 3(e) of this Ordinance, or if a Wireless Provider voluntarily relocates such facilities, such 
replacement or relocation is subject to the then-existing provisions and requirements of the 
additional Supplemental Review District.

(f) Decorative Poles. Subject to the Municipality’s ability to deny an Application as set 
forth in this Ordinance, a Wireless Provider must be permitted to Collocate on or replace Decorative 
Poles when necessary to deploy a Small Wireless Facility.

(1) The Municipality may require the Collocation on a Decorative Pole or the 
replacement of a Decorative Pole to reasonably conform to the design aesthetics of the 
original Decorative Pole, provided these requirements are Technically Feasible.

72



12

(2) For Applications to Collocate Small Wireless Facilities on Decorative Poles 
or to replace Decorative Poles to deploy Small Wireless Facilities, the Municipality may 
propose an alternate location in the ROW within one hundred fifty feet of the location set 
forth in the Application. The Wireless Provider shall use the Municipality’s proposed 
alternate location unless the location is not Technically Feasible or imposes significant 
additional costs. The Wireless Provider shall certify that it has made such a determination in 
good faith, based on the assessment of an engineer licensed in South Carolina, and it shall 
provide a written summary of the basis for such determination.

(g) Repair of Damage. A Wireless Provider shall repair all damage to the ROW directly 
caused by the activities of the Wireless Provider in the ROW and shall restore the ROW to its 
condition before the damage occurred. If within thirty (30) calendar days after written notice the
Wireless Provider fails to the extent practicable in the reasonable judgment of the Municipality to 
restore the ROW to its condition prior to the damage in compliance with this subsection, the 
Municipality may, at the sole discretion of the Municipality, restore the ROW to such condition and 
charge the applicable party the reasonable, documented cost of the restoration, plus a penalty not 
to exceed five hundred dollars ($500) provided; however, that the Wireless Provider may request 
additional time to make such repairs, and the Municipality shall not unreasonably deny such a 
request. The Municipality may suspend the ability of the Wireless Provider to receive any new 
Permits from the Municipality until the Wireless Provider has paid the amount assessed for such 
restoration costs. The Municipality shall not suspend such ability of any Applicant that has deposited 
the amount in controversy in escrow pending an adjudication of the merits of the dispute.

Section 6. Effect of Permit; Occupancy and Use Fees.

(a) Authority Granted: No Property Right or Other Interest Created. A Permit from 
the Municipality authorizes an Applicant to undertake only certain activities in accordance with this
Ordinance and does not create a property right or grant any authority whatsoever to the Applicant 
to impinge upon the rights of others who may already have an interest in the ROW. The approval of 
the installation, placement, maintenance, or operation of a Small Wireless Facility pursuant to this 
Ordinance neither constitutes an authorization nor affects any authorization a Wireless Provider 
may have to provide a Communication Service or to install, place, maintain, or operate any other 
Communications Facility, including a Wireline Backhaul Facility, in a ROW.

(b) Duration. Installation or Collocation for which a Permit is granted pursuant to this 
Ordinance must be completed within one year of the Permit issuance date unless the Municipality 
and the Applicant agree to extend this period, or a delay is caused by the lack of commercial power 
or by the lack of Communications Facilities to be provided to the site by an entity that is not an 
affiliate, as that term is defined in 47 U.S.C. Section 153(2), of the Applicant. Approval of an 
Application authorizes the Applicant to: (1) undertake the installation or Collocation; and (2) subject 
to applicable relocation requirements and the Applicant’s right to terminate at any time, operate 
and maintain the Small Wireless Facilities and any associated Pole covered by the Permit for a period 
of ten years, which may be renewed for equivalent durations so long as the installation or 
Collocation is in compliance with the criteria set forth in this Ordinance and the Permit. Any 
conditions contained in a Permit, including without limitation conditions designed to reduce the 
visibility of the Small Wireless Facility and associated Pole, or to make any portion of the same 
appear to be something other than a Small Wireless Facility, shall apply for the entirety of the Permit 
term and shall include a duty to maintain and replace components as necessary to ensure continued 
compliance.

(c) Occupancy and Use Fees. The Municipality hereby determines that the following 
Rates for occupancy and use are reasonable and nondiscriminatory. For each Small Wireless Facility, 
the Municipality hereby imposes the following Rates:

(1) one hundred dollars ($100) per year for each Small Wireless Facility 
Collocated on any existing or replacement Pole, including an existing or replacement 
Municipality Pole; and

(2) two hundred dollars ($200) per year for each Small Wireless Facility
Collocated on a new Pole, other than a replacement Pole, which two-hundred-dollar ($200) 
Rate shall cover the new Pole and the Small Wireless Facility Collocated on it.

These Rates shall apply to a Wireless Provider regardless of whether the Wireless Provider is subject 
to a business license tax that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant to S. C. Code Section 58-9-2220 
or a franchise, consent, or administrative fee that is or may be imposed upon it pursuant to S.C. Code 
Section 58-9-2230. These Rates shall apply to a Communications Service Provider regardless of 
whether the Communications Service Provider is subject to a franchise fee that is or may be imposed 
upon it pursuant to S.C. Code Section 58-12-330.

73



13

Section 7. Removal, Relocation or Modification of a Small Wireless Facility in the ROW.

(a) Widening, Repair, Reconstruction, and Relocation. If, in the reasonable exercise of 
police powers, the Municipality requires widening, repair, reconstruction, or relocation of a public 
road or highway, or relocation of Poles, Support Structures, or Small Wireless Facilities as a result of 
a public project, a Wireless Provider shall relocate Poles and Support Structures that such Wireless 
Provider has installed in the ROW for the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities pursuant to this 
Ordinance at no cost to the Municipality if such Poles and Support Structures are found by the 
Municipality to unreasonably interfere with the widening, repair, reconstruction, or relocation 
project or the public project. If widening, repair, reconstruction, or relocation is required as a 
condition or result of a project by a Person other than the Municipality, such Person shall bear the 
cost of relocating such Poles or Support Structures and any Communications Facilities on such Poles 
or Support Structures.

(b) Emergency Removal or Relocation of Facilities. The Municipality retains the right 
to cut or move any Small Wireless Facility, Pole, or Support Structure located within the ROW as the 
Municipality, in its reasonable discretion, may determine to be necessary, appropriate, or useful in 
response to any public health or safety emergency. If circumstances permit, the Municipality shall 
notify the Wireless Provider and provide opportunity to move its own Small Wireless Facilities, 
Poles, or Support Structures prior to the Municipality cutting or removing a Small Wireless Facility, 
Pole, or Support Structure and the Municipality shall notify the Wireless Provider after cutting or 
removing a Small Wireless Facility.

(c) Abandonment of Facilities. The Applicant or the Person that owns or operates the 
Small Wireless Facility Collocated in the ROW may remove its Small Wireless Facilities at any time 
from the ROW upon not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Municipality and may 
cease paying to the Municipality any applicable Fees and Rates for such use, as of the date of the 
actual removal of the Small Wireless Facilities. In the event of such removal, the ROW shall be, to 
the extent practicable in the reasonable judgment of the Municipality, restored to its condition prior 
to the removal. If the Applicant fails, to the extent practicable in the reasonable judgment of the 
Municipality, to return the ROW to its condition prior to the removal within ninety (90) days of the 
removal, the Municipality may, at the sole discretion of the Municipality, restore the ROW to such 
condition and charge the Applicant the Municipality’s reasonable, documented cost of removal and 
restoration, plus a penalty not to exceed five hundred dollars ($500). The Municipality may suspend 
the ability of the Applicant to receive any new Permits from the Municipality until the Applicant has 
paid the amount assessed for such restoration The Municipality shall not suspend such ability of any 
Applicant that has deposited the amount in controversy in escrow pending an adjudication of the 
merits of the dispute.

(d) Abandonment by Inaction. At any point when a Wireless Provider fails to pay any 
required Fee or Rate, and fails to respond within sixty (60) days to a written inquiry from the 
Municipality as to whether the Wireless Provider intends to continue to operate a Small Wireless 
Facility or Support Structure, for whatever reason, the Small Wireless Facility shall be deemed 
abandoned and the Municipality may, at its sole option, remove all or any portion of the Small 
Wireless Facility or Support Structure, or take other action as authorized by law, including recovery 
of actual costs incurred in removing the Small Wireless Facility or Support Structure. 

Section 8. Attachment to Municipality Poles.

(a) Annual Rate. The rate to Collocate a Small Wireless Facility on a Municipality Pole 
shall be fifty dollars ($50) per year. This rate is in addition to reimbursement to the Municipality for 
any expenses for make-ready work. The Municipality reserves the right to require a pole attachment 
agreement to further define the terms and conditions of attachments to Municipality Poles. The 
rates specified in this section shall not apply to poles owned, or operated and accounted for as an 
asset of, a municipal electric utility.

(b) Make-Ready. The Rates, Fees, terms, and conditions for make-ready work to 
Collocate on a Municipality Pole must be nondiscriminatory, competitively neutral, commercially 
reasonable, and in compliance with this Ordinance.

(1) The Municipality shall provide a good faith estimate for any make-ready 
work necessary to enable the Pole to support the requested Collocation by a Wireless 
Provider, including Pole replacement if necessary, within sixty (60) days after receipt of a 
complete Application. Alternatively, the Municipality may require the Wireless Provider to 
perform the make-ready work and notify the Wireless Provider of such within the sixty-day 
period. If the Wireless Provider or its contractor performs the make-ready work, the Wireless 
Provider shall indemnify the Municipality for any negligence by the Wireless Provider or its 

74



14

contractor in the performance of such make-ready work and the work shall otherwise 
comply with applicable law.

(2) Make-ready work performed by or on behalf of the Municipality, including 
any Pole replacement, must be completed within sixty (60) days of written acceptance of 
the good faith estimate by the Applicant. The Municipality may require replacement of the 
Municipality Pole only if it demonstrates that the Collocation would make the Municipality 
Pole structurally unsound.

(3) The Person owning, managing, or controlling the Municipality Pole must 
not require more make-ready work than required to meet Applicable Codes or industry 
standards. Fees assessed by or on behalf of a Municipality for make-ready work, including 
any Pole replacement, must not include costs related to preexisting or prior damage or 
noncompliance; exceed either actual costs or the amount charged to other Communications 
Service Providers for similar work on similar types of Municipality Poles; or include any 
revenue or contingency-based consultant’s fees or expenses of any kind.

(4) A Wireless Provider Collocating on a Municipality Pole is responsible for 
reimbursing third parties for their actual and reasonable costs of any make-ready work 
reasonably required by the third party to accommodate the Collocation.

(c) Municipal Utilities Excluded. Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect the 
authority of a municipal electric utility to deny, limit, restrict, or determine the Rates, Fees, terms, 
and conditions for the use of or attachment to a Pole owned, or operated and accounted for as an 
asset of, a municipal electric utility.

(e) Non-Exclusivity; Non-Discrimination. A Person owning, managing, or controlling 
Municipality Poles in the ROW may not enter into an exclusive arrangement with any Person for the 
right to attach to such poles. Subject to a Municipality’s ability to deny an Application as set forth in 
this Ordinance, a Municipality shall allow the Collocation of Small Wireless Facilities on Municipality 
Poles on nondiscriminatory terms and conditions in compliance with this Ordinance.

Section 9. Indemnification, Insurance, and Bonds.

(a) Indemnity. With regard to Small Wireless Facilities, Poles, and Support Structures 
that are subject to this Ordinance, the Wireless Provider shall indemnify and hold the Municipality 
and its officers and employees harmless against any claims, lawsuits, judgments, costs, liens, losses, 
expenses, or fees, to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction finds that the negligence of 
the Wireless Provider while siting, installing, maintaining, repairing replacing, relocating, 
permitting, operating, or locating Small Wireless Facilities, Poles, and Support Structures pursuant 
to this Ordinance caused the harm.

(c) Insurance. The Municipality may require a Wireless Provider to have in effect 
insurance coverage consistent with this section, so long as the Municipality imposes similar 
requirements on other ROW users and such requirements are reasonable and nondiscriminatory.
The Municipality may require a Wireless Provider to furnish proof of insurance prior to the effective 
date of a Permit. The Municipality may not require a Wireless Provider to obtain insurance naming 
the Municipality or its officers and employees as additional insureds. 

(c) Bonds. The Municipality may impose bonding requirements for Small Wireless 
Facilities if the Municipality imposes similar requirements in connection with permits issued for 
other ROW users. Such bonds may provide for the removal of abandoned or improperly maintained 
Small Wireless Facilities, including those that the Municipality determines must be removed to 
protect public health, safety, or welfare; restoration of the ROW; and recoupment of Rates or Fees 
that have not been paid by a Wireless Provider in over twelve months. Bonding requirements may 
not exceed two hundred dollars ($200) per Small Wireless Facility. For Wireless Providers with 
multiple Small Wireless Facilities within the Municipality, the total bond amount across all facilities 
may not exceed ten thousand dollars ($10,000) and that amount may be combined into one bond 
instrument.

75



15

Section 10. Severability. 

In the event any title, subtitle, section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, subparagraph, 
item, sentence, clause, phrase, or work of this Ordinance is declared or adjudged to be invalid or 
unconstitutional, such declaration or adjudication shall not affect the remaining portions of the 
Ordinance which shall remain in full force and effect as if the portion so declared or adjudged invalid 
or unconstitutional was not originally a part of this Ordinance.

Section 11. Effective Date.

This Ordinance shall take effect (xxx) days after adoption.

76



16

All ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed.

This ordinance shall be effective on the date of final reading.

INTRODUCED the 8TH day of June 2021.

DONE the day of July 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

77



Exhibit A

Existing Supplemental Review Districts

1. Underground District – City of Goose Creek Code Title IX, Chapter 92 –
(Streets, Sidewalks, and other Public Property)

78



Exhibit B

Design Manual

*City of Goose Creek Small Wireless Design Manual 

** The Design Manual may be amended from time to time by way of a duly enacted resolution.

79



EXHIBIT B

SMALL WIRELESS DESIGN MANUAL

80



City of Goose Creek 
Small Wireless Design Manual 

www.cityofgoosecreek.com

JUNE 2021 

81



1 
This manual establishes 

guidance for installing small 

wireless equipment and poles 

in the City of Goose Creek.

1. BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

The City of Goose Creek recognizes that Small Wireless 
Facilities, including facilities commonly referred to as 
small cell, are critical to delivering wireless access to 
advanced technology, broadband, and 911 services to 
residences, businesses, and schools within the City.  

To prepare for the current and future needs in effective 
and efficient deployment, the City of Goose Creek 
provides guidelines in conjunction with applicable code 
of ordinances.

It is the intent that flexibility be provided when considering options for  installation of small wireless 
infrastructure.  The given examples of types of facilities/poles/attachments are for illustrative 
purposes only.  The City recognizes that certain proprietary and technological advancements and 
equipment may vary with providers and owners. As such, each request for specific installation shall 
be considered on a case by case basis as to the final design and placement location. 

82



2 
General guidance applicable 

to all small cell installations. 2. GENERAL GUIDANCE

All small cell wireless facility attachments or 
installations shall be reviewed by City staff.  All 
equipment shall meet the manual requirements 
and all applicable laws. A cohesive appearance 
shall be maintained with placement.  The Zoning 
Administrator reserves the right to approve 
deviations on a case by case basis in concert with 
the intent of the manual.

*Aesthetic Criteria

Consideration shall be given to the aesthetics of 
neighborhoods and streetscapes adjacent to the 
proposed site - both existing and planned 
redevelopment with the following considerations:

Emulates an architectural or landscape feature 
typical of, or appropriate to, the surrounding area

 Respects and, to the extent possible, 
compliments the style, height, bulk mass, 
material, and color of existing buildings, 
structures, vegetation, and uses within the 
surrounding area

83



Preserves existing vegetation and scenic view sheds

Respects existing topography, including minimizing 
the extent to which the proposed structure would 
be a dominant feature

Conceals conduit internally and streamlines antenna 
and equipment

 Cantenna (top portion) shall include a smooth 
transition between riser pole and attachment

Matches the color of the antenna and equipment 
with existing poles, buildings, and background

 Uses decorative metal or fiberglass supports 
consistent with the redevelopment or aesthetics effort 
of the area

Small cells shall not be located in front of adjacent 
building doorways, accessible balconies, or primary 
windows and shall be located in a manner that 
considers view plane enjoyment of adjacent 
properties.

Reasonable efforts shall be made to co-locate on 
existing poles or other structures.

Where particular requirements are technically 
infeasible, an applicant should work with City 
staff in order to discuss a mutually acceptable 
design that adheres to the standards as much 
as possible, serves the goals of the design 
manual to the extent possible, and at all times 
remaining within the bounds of applicable law.  

84



Unacceptable Installation 

Conduit, mounting 
bracket, and other 
hardware must be 
hidden from view 

Cantenna must 
include a smooth 

transition between 
riser pole and 

cantenna 
attachment 

Acceptable Installation 

 

 

85



Unacceptable Installation 

Conduit, mounting 
bracket, and other 
hardware must be 
hidden behind a 
cantenna or in a 

shroud 

Cantenna must 
include a smooth 

transition between 
riser pole and 

cantenna 

All conduit, wires, 
and other 

hardware shall be 
located internal to 

the riser pole 

Acceptable Installation 

Freestanding small wireless pole components include foundation, equipment 
cabinet, riser pole, cantenna, permitted external shroud, and all hardware and 
electrical equipment necessary for a complete assembly. 

The optional exterior mounted equipment shroud will be allowed when equipment 
cannot be located internal to the riser pole. To qualify for this, the Applicant must 
demonstrate that proposed deployment(s) cannot be integrated into the equipment 
cabinet or the cantenna. Existing wooden pole installations shall be evaluated on location 
and reasonable design capabilities. 

The exterior mounted equipment shroud shall match the pole aesthetics. Care 
should be taken to integrate the mounting attachments into the enclosure design. 
The enclosure shall be securely strapped to the pole. Wires and cabling shall be 
hidden from view. Cables and wires shall be located internal to the pole until they reach 
a cable grommet. 

86



3 
Design Catalogue3. Approved Design

It is the intent of the manual to catalogue approved plans 
to assist in rapid deployment.  Providers are encouraged 
to work with staff to achieve this goal. The City of Goose 
Creek reserves the right to accept or amend plans based 
on location, design, and development efforts.

87



rJ!!fJ BERKELEY
litA ELECTRIC 

COOPERATIVE 

Your Touchstone Energy
"' 

Partner �l'): 
SPECIFICATIONS 

POST 
North Yorkshire Series Cast Iron & Steel Post 17" Dia. Base 

• Z NY 2117 CIS BK

ESPLANADE® STYLE 

LUMINAIRE 

BOSTON HARBOUR 

NORTH YORKSHIRE 17 
CROSSARM 
BHC Series Crossarm ; Oriented at O degrees. 

• BHC48/1 CA BK -GWLF/200 SCAR
ARM LUMINAIRE 
Esplanade® Style Luminaire 

• ESU 400MH MA B 4 SS

INSTALLATION 
A door shall be provided in the base for anchorage and/or wiring access. 

• 12"0 bolt circle.

Dimensions 
• Overall Street Lamp Height: 22'-8.3"

Wind Loads 
Windloading for this post and accessories has 
been checked for the 90 mph winds where the 
post will be installed and has passed. 

Anchorage/Orjentatjon Plan 

Street Side 

I/JO" 

270" 

O" 

-

,.._ 

-

,.__ 

Customer Approval: Job Name: ___________________ _ 
Client Name: _

_________________ _

-si-gn-at-ur_e 
__________

___
__

_ d-at-e Created By: Mark Lybrand 

Catalog #Z NY 2117 CIS BK BHC48/1 CA BK •GWLF/200 
SCAR ESU 400MH MA B 4 SS 

Dwg, # HLP-10185

Date: 05-Jun-09 

Typical Example of Black Decorative Pole Type in Goose Creek, SC

Catalog Number Z NY 2117 CIS BK BHC48/1 CA BK -GWLF/200

SCA R ESU 400MH MA B 4 SS

88



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator, Mayor and City Council

From: Brian Cook, Asst. City Administrator

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, SOUTH
CAROLINA, BY AMENDING THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 92, STREETS, SIDEWALKS, AND OTHER PUBLIC
PROPERTY; AND BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION (D), UNDERGROUND DISTRICT - (Introduction
and First Reading of a Public Hearing)

Background Summary
To add a new section to further clarify efforts towards orderly development which generally
requires utility services to be placed underground.

Financial Impact
None

Impact if denied
Less guidance for orderly development with utilities underground

Impact if approved
Better guidance for orderly development with utilities underground 

 

89



§ 92.35 RESTORATION OF SURFACE; RELOCATION OF EQUIPMENT; 
UNDERGROUND DISTRICT.

   (A)   Restoration. In case of any disturbance of pavement, sidewalk, driveway, 
ornamental vegetation or other surfaces by the utility pursuant to its use of the public 
streets, public properties and public rights-of-way, the utility shall, at its own cost and 
expense, and in a manner approved by the City Engineer, replace and restore all 
paving, sidewalk, driveway or surface of any street or alley disturbed in as good 
condition as before the work was commenced, in a safe and sound condition, and shall 
maintain the restoration in an improved condition for a period of five years.

   (B)   Relocation and removal. Utilities using the public streets, public property or 
public rights-of-way pursuant to this chapter shall, at their own expense and at the 
direction of the city, relocate and remove their appliances, fixtures or equipment at any 
time public necessity requires the relocation or removal because of the appliances, 
fixtures or equipment unreasonably interfering with or restricting the effective or safe 
use of the public street, public property or public right-of-way.

   (C)   Removal or existing facilities. Any poles, wires, cables, underground conduits, 
manholes, pipes or other fixtures or equipment erected or located by persons in, along, 
across, above, over and under the public streets, public properties or public rights-of-
way of the city, prior to the effective date of the ordinance from which this chapter is 
derived, must have been removed within three months after the effective date of the 
ordinance unless the utility shall have obtained permission for use of the public streets, 
public properties or public rights-of-way prior thereto in accordance with the terms of 
this chapter.

(D) Underground District.  To promote and contribute to the safety of the public,
appearance, and to assure orderly development, all facilities for the supply and 
distribution of electric energy, television cable, gas, telephone, data or similar utility 
services, for all construction, infrastructure deployment and land development, shall, 
except as otherwise provided under applicable laws and regulations, be placed 
underground. The Director of Public works, or designee, in consultation with the Zoning 
Administrator, reserve the right to consider site specific exceptions based on field 
conditions.

90



ORDINANCE NO.: 

AN ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, BY AMENDING THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 92, STREETS, SIDEWALKS, AND 
OTHER PUBLIC PROPERTY; AND BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION (D), UNDERGROUND 
DISTRICT

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have recognized the necessity of updating the 
Zoning Ordinance by adding a new subsection, (D) Underground District, to further clarify efforts 
towards orderly development which generally requires utility services to be placed underground; 
and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council believe it is in the best interest of the City to now so 
act with making these amendments in the Zoning Ordinance in order to provide good planning and 
zoning practices, and to provide for better guidance for orderly development with utilities 
underground.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED and ordered by the Mayor and City Council of 
the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, in Council duly assembled, that Section 92.35 of the 
Zoning Ordinance of the City of Goose Creek, South Carolina, be hereby amended as follows. 

Section. 92.35 Restoration of Surface; Relocation of Equipment; Underground District

(D) Underground District.  To promote and contribute to the safety of the public, 
appearance, and to assure orderly development, all facilities for the supply and distribution 
of electric energy, television cable, gas, telephone, data, or similar utility services, for all 
construction, infrastructure deployment and land development, shall, except as otherwise 
provided under applicable laws and regulations, be placed underground.  The Director of 
Public works, or designee, in consultation with the Zoning Administrator, reserve the right 
to consider site specific exceptions based on field conditions.

All ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed.

This ordinance shall be effective on the date of final reading.

INTRODUCED the 8th day of June 2021.

DONE the day of July 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

91



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator; Mayor and City Council

From: Matt Brady

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head: City Administrator:

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
A RESOLUTION COMMITTING THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK TO PROVIDING A PROGRAM FEE FOR
THE MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION OF SOUTH CAROLINA RETAIL RECRUITMENT TRAINING PROGRAM
(Introduction and Final Reading of a Public Hearing)
 

Background Summary
The Municipal Association has partnered with The Retail Coach, a professional retail recruiting
firm, to provide low-cost training to member cities. The City will prepare an application to join this
inaugural effort, but the matching cost is $5,000. This resolution authorizes the $5,000 required to
submit the application. 
 
Participation in this program will enhance what we do in terms of retail attraction. 

Financial Impact
The cost of the program to the City will be $5,000. The training will equip staff with an even more
robust understanding of retail recruitment strategies. Successful recruitment of retail businesses
will help diversify the City's revenue base, as well as enhancing the quality of life for its citizens. 

Impact if denied
City staff will not participate in the training from MASC/The Retail Coach. 

Impact if approved
City staff will participate in the training from MASC/The Retail Coach, bolstering the retail
attraction efforts. 

92



____________________
Signature & Date

____________________
Signature & Date

 

93



RESOLUTION NO.: 

A RESOLUTION

A RESOLUTION COMMITTING THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK TO PROVIDING A PROGRAM 
FEE FOR THE MUNICIPAL ASSOCIATION OF SOUTH CAROLINA RETAIL RECRUITMENT 
TRAINING PROGRAM IN PARTNERSHIP WITH THE RETAIL COACH IF THE CITY OF GOOSE 
CREEK IS ACCEPTED INTO THE PROGRAM AND SUPPORTING THE CITY’S APPLICATION 
THERETO

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GOOSE CREEK, here assembled 

on this 8th day of June 2021, that the Goose Creek City Council hereby supports the City’s 

application to the Municipal Association of South Carolina Retail Recruitment Training Program

in partnership with The Retail Coach and commits to provide a program fee of $5,000 to cover 

the cost of the program if the City is selected to participate. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Council will follow its procurement policy adopted 

in accordance with SC Code of Laws Section 11-35-5320 when engaging with The Retail Coach 

as it relates to their participation in the program. 

This resolution is made in regard to the submission of an application for the Municipal 

Association of South Carolina Retail Recruitment Training Program which must be submitted 

electronically on or before Friday, July 2, 2021.

Mayor Gregory S. Habib

Attest:
Kelly J. Lovette, MMC, City Clerk

Mayor Pro Tem Jerry Tekac Councilmember Debra Green-Fletcher

Councilmember Corey McClary Councilmember Gayla S.L. McSwain

Councilmember Hannah J. Cox Councilmember Melissa Enos

94



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: Mayor and City Council

From: Tyler Howanyk

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
EMS Contract with Berkeley County.

Background Summary
Approval of Contract with Berkeley County regarding EMS.

Financial Impact
The City receives $209,230 a year from the County to provide EMS services.

Impact if denied
There will be no contract or funding from the County.

Impact if approved
The City will have a valid contract with the County.

 

95



Page 1 of 4 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
)   AGREEMENT 

COUNTY OF BERKELEY   ) 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this 8th day of June, 2021, by and between 
the County of Berkeley, a political entity of the State of South Carolina, hereinafter referred to as 
the “County”, and the City of Goose Creek, a municipality of the State of South Carolina, 
hereinafter referred to as the “City”. 

1. For and in consideration of the sum of Two Hundred Nine Thousand Two Hundred 
Thirty ($209,230.00) Dollars paid by the County to the City, and other valuable 
consideration as defined herein, the City does hereby agree to provide Emergency 
Medical Services as follows: 

a. The City agrees to serve as the primary responder to the following portions of 
Berkeley County, to-wit:  All of the City of Goose Creek. 

b. The City further agrees to serve as a secondary responder to all areas of 
Berkeley County not designated in paragraph “a” above.  This response will be 
made upon request by the County and shall be made only in those instances 
where the County in its sole discretion determines such response is necessary. 
Likewise, the County agrees to serve as a secondary responder to all areas of 
the City when such a request is made by the City.  

c. The City will conduct its Emergency Medical Services under this contract in 
accordance with existing laws and rules and regulations promulgated by the 
County as well as State and Federal regulatory agencies. 

d. The City shall use a fee schedule as established by the County, attached as 
Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference, to determine all charges 
for services rendered.  The County may raise the fee schedule during the term 
of this agreement and any such changes shall be effective as of the date they are 
deemed effective. The City shall follow exactly those charges as established.  
The same fee will apply to all emergency medical services provided within or 
without the City limits of Goose Creek.  Fees collected by the City shall be used 
by the City to defray direct costs of operating the ambulances.  

2. As additional consideration hereunder the County agrees to provide to the City two 
suitable EMS ambulances for use by the City, one primary ambulance and one spare 
ambulance. The City EMS ambulances shall be subject to the same replacement 
schedule as all other County operated EMS ambulances. While the County agrees to 
provide regularly scheduled maintenance as outlined in paragraph 3, the City agrees to 
pay for all costs associated with any damage to the ambulances not covered by 
insurance, including damage resulting from a failure to maintain the ambulances at 
regularly scheduled intervals. This Agreement creates a bailment only, and the County 
shall remain the sole owner of the EMS ambulances.  Upon termination of this 

96



Page 2 of 4 
 

Agreement, the ambulances shall be transferred to the County in its present condition, 
reasonable wear and tear excepted. 

3. The City shall, at its own expense, provide suitable and adequate garage space, and 
shall maintain the ambulances in good condition, limited to preventative maintenance, 
i.e. washing, polishing, gas, oil, and other fluids necessary to maintain the ambulances 
in good working order.  The County will provide all maintenance to include tires, tubes, 
front end alignment, and any other necessary maintenance to ensure safe and efficient 
operation of the vehicle. 

4. The County shall carry and maintain, at its own expense, insurance covering property 
damage and personal injury as well as liability to the extent deemed necessary by the 
County for the operation of the EMS ambulances. The City shall provide its employees 
and agents performing hereunder with Workers’ compensation, malpractice, and/or tort 
liability insurance in such amount as may be agreed upon by the parties hereto. 

5. The County shall provide and maintain, at its own expense, all necessary South 
Carolina vehicle licenses and license tags for the ambulances. 

6. The City agrees to staff at least one EMS ambulance at all times and if a second 
ambulance is operational at the same time, shall staff the second ambulance while it is 
operational.  The parties agree the staffing required for operation of an EMS ambulance 
is a minimum of two (2) qualified personnel possessing current licenses issued by the 
South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control designating such 
personnel as Emergency Services Technicians or Paramedics, with personnel being 
appropriately licensed for the nature of the call being responded to. The City shall 
permit only safe, careful, licensed, and authorized drivers to operate the ambulances. 

7. The City agrees that it will furnish the ambulances with such medical equipment as 
required by Department of Health and Environmental Control regulations pertaining to 
Emergency Medical Services vehicles. Initial furnishing of the ambulances will be 
performed jointly by the City and County in such amounts and proportions as deemed 
proper by the Berkeley County Emergency Medical Services Director and the Goose 
Creek Director of such service. 

8. The City agrees to notify the County should its Emergency Medical Service be unable 
to respond to any request for service.  Upon such notification, the County will provide 
or cause to be provided a secondary response to the City of Goose Creek.  

9. The City agrees to notify the County when the City is unable to provide ALS functions 
on their EMS ambulance. 

10. The City agrees to notify the County when the EMS ambulance operated by the City is 
out of service, or otherwise unavailable to provide mutual aid. 

11. The County agrees to allow all emergency services personnel employed by the City to 
attend training events at dates and times determined by the County; however, execution 
and approval of all licensing, relicensing, training certification or any other training 
documentation shall be the responsibility of the City. Additionally, any training on 

97



Page 3 of 4 
 

protocols that are different from protocols utilized by the County, shall be the 
responsibility of the City. Further, the County agrees to provide a copy of the video 
recorded County training sessions to the City for their use in training City employees. 

12. The City shall provide both the locations where the ambulance will operate out of and 
their service territory, including any expansions or reductions in that service territory. 

13. The City shall ensure medical compliance within the industry-accepted standards of 
care. Any violation, reported or investigated by DHEC, must be reported to the County. 

14. The City agrees to provide a copy of any contract they have with a medical control 
physician and the County agrees to provide the City with a copy of any contract they 
have with a medical control physician. 

15. The City and County agree to exchange contact information for their EMS Director, 
EMS Assistant Director, Training Officer, Data Manager, and Infection Control 
Officer. 

16. The City agrees to provide all insurance policies related to coverage for their EMS 
service. 

17. The City agrees to provide a copy of the EMS Non-Dispensing Drug Permit from the 
S.C. Board of Pharmacy. 

18. The City agrees to provide a copy of the agency’s current Drug Enforcement Agency 
license, both state and federal, when applicable. 

19. The City agrees to provide a copy of the agency’s Clinical Laboratory Improvement 
Act (CLIA) waiver from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) if the 
agency is providing field laboratory testing. 

20. Neither this Agreement nor any interest created hereby may be assigned by the         City 
without the written consent of the County. 

21. This Agreement shall terminate June 30, 2022, or upon ninety (90) days written notice 
by either party hereto. Provided the City and County agree, this Agreement may be 
extended for two (2) additional one (1) year terms. 

22. The City accepts the EMS ambulance following an inspection to ensure compliance 
with Paragraph 7 and determine to its satisfaction the condition of the vehicle.  No 
warranty, guarantee, or representation is made by the County as to the condition of said 
vehicle. 

23. The City operating hereunder is hereby deemed to be an Independent Contractor and 
the County assumes no liability or responsibility for its acts and doings, or the acts and 
doings of its employees or agent during the rendering of emergency care, 
transportation, or any other phase of activities to be conducted under this contract. 

24. The County shall pay to the City the sum of Fifty-Two Thousand Three Hundred Seven 
($52,307.50) Dollars and Fifty Cents on each of the following dates: 
 

July 1, 2021; October 1, 2021; January 1, 2022; and April 1, 2022. 

 

98



Page 4 of 4 
 

 

Witnesses:      City of Goose Creek 

        By:        

        Its:        

 

Witnesses:      Berkeley County Government 

        By:        

        Its:        

 

99



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: City Administrator, Mayor and City Council

From: Tyler Howanyk, Chief Financial Officer

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
Request to Hire Contractor for Landscaped Medians.

Background Summary
Median Beautification Project on St. James Ave.

Financial Impact
Approval of the low bid contractor, AOS Specialty Contractors in the amount of $611,673.
This is to be paid out of the Hospitality Tax Fund.
The City budgeted - $481,108 and the low bid of $611,673 puts the project over budget by
$130,565.
There is currently ample cash reserves to pay for the overage. 
They City is working with LandPlan Group South to identify savings in the selection of plants and
anticipates a lower project cost.

Impact if denied
The City will not have landscaped medians on St. James Ave.

Impact if approved
The City will have landscaped medians on St. James Ave.

 

100



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Gregory S. Habib 
M A Y O R  

 
Debra Green-Fletcher 
Corey D. McClary 
Jerry Tekac 
Gayla S.L. McSwain  
Hannah J. Cox 
Melissa Enos 
C I T Y  C O U N C I L  

 

Natalie Zeigler 
 

519 N. GOOSE CREEK BOULEVARD 

P.O DRAWER 1768 

GOOSE CREEK, SC 29445-1768 

TEL (843) 797-6220 

FAX (843) 863-5208 

 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator 
FROM:  Sherry Bodden, Purchasing Coordinator 
DATE:  May 28, 2021 
SUBJECT:  Request to Hire AOS Specialty Contractors – Median 
Beautification St. James Ave. 
 
 
An Invitation for Bids was issued for the Median Beautification St. 
James project.  We received four bids from the following companies: 
 
AOS Specialty Contractors                         $611,673.00  
Pleasant Places                                             $592,912.65      DQ 
Smoak Irrigation                                           $696,242.00 
Yellowstone                                                    $655,556.40      DQ 
 
The LandPlan Group South disqualified two of the bidders due to non-
conformance with the project specifications.  Additionally, the LandPlan 
Group South contacted the South Carolina LLR, and the BBB and the low 
bidder has no know issues with either agency.   
 
In the attached memo, The LandPlan Group South recommends award 
to the lowest, responsive bidder, AOS Specialty Contractors, Inc. for the 
bid amount of $611,673.00.    
 
Respectfully, 

 
Sherry Bodden 
Purchasing & Granting Writing Coordinator 
City of Goose Creek 

101



•• THE LANDPLAN GROUP SOUTH 
\~•~4fl Landscape Architecture I Engineering I Planning 

~~ 

To: Ms. Natalie Zeigler, 
City Manager 
City of Goose Creek 

Re: Recommendation of Award 
Goose Creek Median Beautification 
Goose Creek, SC 

MEMO 
Date: 5/14/2021 

On Thursday, May 13, 2021, four (4) bids were received for the above referenced project. A tabulation of 
these bids is attached for your information and review. We have reviewed the low bidder's references and are 
satisfied with the responses. We have contacted LLR, and the BBB and the low bidder has no known issues 
with either agency. Please note that two (2) of the four (4) bids were disqualified due to non-conformance 
with the project specifications. 

The LandPlan Group South recommends award to the lowest, responsive bidder, ADS Specialty Contractors, 
Inc. for the bid amount of $611,673.00 (it within the Town of Goose Creek's budget) . 

Please contact me if you have questions or if you need additional information. 

1206 Scott Street 
Columbia, SC 29201 

0: 803.256.0562 
www.landplansouth.com 

102



Page 1 of 1 
I, PATRICK T. LIVINGS~~~ THIS BID TABULATION 
IS A TRUE AND CORRECT T TION OF BIDS GOOSE CREEK MEDIAN BEAUTIFICATION 

RECv; ~;., 1 
GOOSE CREEK, SC 

Bidder#1 Bidder #2 Bidder#3 Bidder #4 

SC LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT #1001 AOS Specialty Contractors Pleasant Places Smoak Irrigation Yellowstone 

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY. UNIT UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE 

1 Mobilization 1 LS $40,125.00 $40,125.00 $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $59,000.00 $59,000.00 $15,309.40 $15,309.40 

2 Traffic Control 1 LS $5,725.00 $5,725.00 $0.00 $0.00 * $58,000.00 $58,000.00 $150,000.00 $150,000.00 

3 Brick Paving 5200 LF $39.00 $202,800.00 $61 .23 $318,396.00 $47.00 $244,400.00 $54.28 $282,256.00 

4 Sign Poles 
a) Banner Poles w/Foundation 11 EA $2,680.00 $29,480.00 $2,700.00 $29,700.00 $4,100.00 $45,100.00 $7,500.00 $82,500.00 

5 Planting 
a) Flower Carpet Ground Rose 86 EA $30.00 $2,580.00 $27.00 $2,322.00 $60.00 $5,160.00 $35.00 $3,010.00 

b) Double Knockout Rose 109 EA $30.00 $3,270.00 $26.00 $2,834.00 $60.00 $6,540.00 $35.00 $3,815.00 

c) Mexican Feather Grass 114 EA $30.00 $3,420.00 $12.00 $1 ,368.00 $65.00 $7,410.00 $24.00 $2,736.00 

d) Avalanche Feather Reed Grass 570 EA $33.00 $18,810.00 $27.00 $15,390.00 $65.00 $37,050.00 $24.00 $13,680.00 
e) Munstead Lavender 3496 EA $42.00 $146,832.00 $12.00 $41,952.00 $22.00 $76,912.00 $7.50 $26,220.00 • 

f) Compact Plumosa Juniper 441 EA $31.00 $13,671 .00 $18.00 $7,938.00 $60.00 $26,460.00 $20.00 $8,820.00 

g) Purple Pixie Loropetalum 1170 EA $30.00 $35,100.00 $27.00 $31,590.00 $65.00 $76,050.00 $16.00 $18,720.00 • 
h) Pink Muhly Grass 120 EA $24.00 $2,880.00 $18.00 $2,160.00 $58.00 $6,960.00 $37.00 $4,440.00 
i) Annuals 1300 EA $11 .85 $15,405.00 $6.00 $7,800.00 $6.00 $7,800.00 $9.00 $11,700.00 
j) Mulch (Pine Straw) 1 EA $12,775.00 $12,775.00 $20,638.65 $20,638.65 $7,800.00 $7,800.00 $5,600.00 $5,600.00 
k) Planting Mix 1 EA $22,500.00 $22,500.00 $76,824.00 $76,824.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 * 

6 Irrigation 1 LS $56,300.00 $56,300.00 $19,000.00 $19,000.00 $27,000.00 $27,000.00 $26,000.00 $26,000.00 

* 
TOTAL, BASE BID $611 ,673.00 X $592,912.65 $696,642.00 X $656,556.40 

* Reflects calculation difference by contractor (unit price prevails) 

* Reflects alteration to official bid form or form incomplete as per specifications. 

X Pleasant Places and Yellowstone were disqualified due to non-conformance with project specifications. 

103



Name 

Natalie Zeigler 

Sherry Bodden 

Chuck Denson 

David Fennell 

Rick McMackin 

Patrick Livingston 

;JI 'c_J! __ vJ /{<o c, -e_ r :S 
I 'J m&f~r~b~~ 

,:'/;d A,;r. 
~Y)\-0~1 ~in,,rl 

/J -¼~A /AY 
-

- - ( 
)(.. /~ -

~ 

• 
Goose Creek Median Beautification 

,_ 

-< 

Goose Creek Median Beautification 
Goose Creek, SC 

Bid Opening 
May 13, 2021 - 2:00 pm 

Company Present Phone number 

City of Goose Creek 843-797-6220 
/ 

City of Goose Creek I 843-797-6220 
/ 

City of Goose Creek I 843-824-2200 

City of Goose Creek 843-596-7 4 73 

The LandPlan Group South 
/ 

803-256-0562 

The LandPlan Group South j 803-256-0562 

AOS ✓ &0t/-210-1s z t 
Pleasant Places .,/' f/-/3 -&'<f 1 -~b5'6 

Smoak Irrigation yc:,-3 ~4/ <+:,; (; 

Yellowstone ✓ &o4-2:>B:') ---02-34 

!Iv--- ---

Email address 

nzeigler@cityofgoosecreek.com 

sbodden@cityof goosecreek. com 

cdenson@cityofgoosecreek.com 

dfennell@cityofgoosecreek.com 

rmcmackin@landplansouth.com 

p I ivingston@landplansouth.com 

U t c:./:.lf 0 ~os, o rct 
I ....J 

~-F € jJ le'll~o.vi-\-p b ~, c oib\ 

_:sr-v--,r-,c .. JL ~ 
'.J .0) µ c_ ·- I , 
a e,1,0 i (7. 3 @ ~e,/1 ~ W&h°'ru,lanJ SCtlj: . • C,OVv 

104



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: City Administrator, Mayor and City Council

From: Tyler Howanyk, Chief Financial Officer

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
Code Enforcement Officer Update

Background Summary
The City of Goose Creek’s ordinance section 10.12 authorizes for the issuance of uniform
ordinance summons, and states: “The uniform ordinance summons may be issued by any city law
enforcement officer or any other city employees as designated by the City Council as code
enforcement officers.”

Financial Impact
No financial impact.

Impact if denied
The City will not have an updated listing of Code Enforcement Officers.

Impact if approved
The City will have an updated listing of Code Enforcement Officers.

 

105



 
  

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator 
FROM:  Tyler Howanyk, Chief Financial Officer 
DATE:  June 1, 2021 
SUBJECT:  Code Enforcement Officers  
 
SITUATION:  
The City of Goose Creek’s ordinance section 10.12 authorizes for the issuance of uniform 
ordinance summons, and states: “The uniform ordinance summons may be issued by any city law 
enforcement officer or any other city employees as designated by the City Council as code 
enforcement officers.” 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Designate and commission employees as code enforcement officers for the City of Goose Creek.  
Commissions are subject to renewal or rescission every year, and officers are commissioned was 
needed or when necessary.  Additionally, commissions are only valid so long as the employment 
term is active and will expire upon separation of employment. 
 
ACTION REQUESTED OF COUNCIL: 
Commission the attached list of City employees as code enforcement officers of the City of 
Goose Creek 
 
 
Respectfully, 

 
Tyler Howanyk, CPA 
Chief Financial Officer 
City of Goose Creek 
 
 
 
 
 
 

106



  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Listing of Code Enforcement Officers for the City of Goose Creek 

 
Employee Name Department

Brian Cook Administration
Thurman Pellum Jr. Building Services
Marc Todd Building Services
Ginger Yon Building Services
Samual Stratford Building Services
Tyler Howanyk Finance
Jennifer Althoff Finance
Mark Brodeur Planning and Zoning
Brenda Moneer Planning and Zoning
Charles Denson Public Works
Daniel Vitello Public Works
Christopher Torres Public Works

 

107



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: City Administrator, Mayor and Council.

From: Tyler Howanyk, Chief Financial Officer

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
Request to Hire Trident Construction - Eubanks / Casey Park

Background Summary
The City received nine (9) sealed responses for the design/build of Eubanks Parks.  Our selection
committee reviewed all nine (9) responses and narrowed the selection down to three (3) highly
qualified companies to perform interviews. Trident Construction was ranked the highest.

Financial Impact
The City will enter into a design build contract with Trident Construction for Eubanks Park / Casey
Center.

Impact if denied
The City will not enter into a design build contract with Trident Construction for Eubanks Park /
Casey Center.

Impact if approved
The City will enter into a design build contract with Trident Construction for Eubanks Park / Casey
Center.

 

108



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Gregory S. Habib 
M A Y O R  

 
Debra Green-Fletcher 
Corey D. McClary 
Jerry Tekac 
Gayla S.L. McSwain  
Hannah J. Cox 
Melissa Enos 
C I T Y  C O U N C I L  

 

Natalie Zeigler 
C I T Y  A D M I N I S T R A T O R  

 
519 N. GOOSE CREEK BOULEVARD 

P.O DRAWER 1768 

GOOSE CREEK, SC 29445-1768 

TEL (843) 797-6220 

FAX (843) 863-5208 

 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Natalie Zeigler, City Administrator 
From:  Sherry Bodden, Purchasing Coordinator 
Date:  June 1, 2021 
Subject:  Request to Hire Trident Construction – Eubanks Park 
 
 
Request for Qualifications from qualified contractors to complete the 
design/build of Eubanks Parks was posted on February 26, 2021.  Sealed 
bids were received and opened on April 16, 2021. 
 
The City received nine sealed responses.  Our selection committee 
reviewed all nine responses and narrowed the selection down to 3 highly 
qualified companies as follows: 
  
 Hill Construction 
 Mashburn Construction Company, Inc. 
 Trident Construction  
 
Our committee then conducted an interview with each of the above 
companies and selected Trident Construction to complete the 
design/build of Eubanks Park.   
 
Your favorable consideration of this request will be appreciated. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Sherry L Bodden 
Purchasing & Grant Writing Coordinator 
City of Goose Creek 

109



Request for City Council
Agenda Item

To: City Administrator, Mayor and City Council

From: Kelly J. Lovette, City Clerk

 Regular Meeting

 Work Session

 Special Meeting

  Ordinance  Resolution  Proclamation  Request to
Purchase

Department Head:

____________________
Signature & Date

City Administrator:

____________________
Signature & Date

 
Please check one box

 
Please check one box, if applicable

 
Ordinance/Resolution Title
May Department Reports

Background Summary

Financial Impact

Impact if denied

Impact if approved

 

110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136


	City Council Agenda
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - CC Meeting Minute May 22, 2021.pdf
	Item a. - CC Workshop 05-25-2021 Draft.pdf
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - May_2021_Annexation_Stephanie_Drive.pdf
	Item b. - Cover Page
	Item b. - May_2021_Annexation_Liz_Lane.pdf
	Item c. - Cover Page
	Item c. - 2021-029 MA_OLD MONCKS CORNER_SASS_2340800084_Redacted.pdf
	Item d. - Cover Page
	Item d. - City_of_Goose_Creek_-_Updated_Purchasing_Policy__-_Ordinance.pdf
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - CCPublicHearingSTAFFREPORTstarttimeDRAFT.docx
	Item a. - ZBATimeCodeStrikethrough.docx
	Item a. - ARBTimeCodeStrikethrough.docx
	Item a. - CCStartTimeZONINGOrdinance (2).docx
	Item b. - Cover Page
	Item b. - Rev.1 CCStaffReportHoweHall.docx
	Item b. - 2021-007MAStaff Report - Howe Hall mini Storage Rezone.pdf
	Item b. - Rev.1Ordinance_HOWEHALL_Road_COtoGC.docx
	Item c. - Cover Page
	Item c. - 2021-SWF-Model-Ordinance__FINAL_5-13-2021___1_ (7).docx
	Item c. - SWF Design Manual (8JUN2021)pdf
	Item d. - Cover Page
	Item d. - Underground Text Amendment (8JUN2021).docx
	Item d. - Ordinance-Underground__8JUN2021_ (5).docx
	Item e. - Cover Page
	Item e. - Resolution_Retail_Recruitment_Training_Program (1).docx
	Item a. - Cover Page
	Item a. - City of Goose Creek EMS Contract with Berkeley County.pdf
	Item b. - Cover Page
	Item b. - Memo - Median Beautification St James Ave.pdf
	Item c. - Cover Page
	Item c. - Memo re Code Enforcement Officer.pdf
	Item d. - Cover Page
	Item d. - Memo re - Eubanks Park.pdf
	Cover Page
	Department Reports.pdf



